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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

for the financial year closed on 31 December 2017  

 

 

Ilona Weiss Andrzej Kuźniak Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski Krystyna Cybulska 

President Vice-President Vice-President Chief Accountant 

 

     Warsaw, 19 April 2018   

Continued operations

Notes

Year ended     

31 December 

2017

Year ended     

31 December 

2016

Revenues 11            4 635 294           4 926 737 

Cost of sales          (4 351 672)         (4 665 877)

Gross profit on sales             283 622            260 860 

Other operating income 12.1                   3 691                  9 139 

Selling expenses 12.5             (186 357)            (190 656)

Administrative expenses 12.5               (45 370)              (37 767)

Oter operating expenses 12.2                 (2 785)                (3 771)

Gross profit on operations               52 801              37 805 

Financial income 12.3                   3 477                     136 

Financial expenses 12.4                 (9 919)              (15 708)

Net financial expense                (6 442)             (15 572)

Profit before tax               46 359              22 233 

Income tax 13               (20 947)                (5 019)

Net profit for the period               25 412              17 214 

Net profit attributed to: 

 Parent shareholders                 25 976                17 135 

 Non-controlling interest                    (564)                       79 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on foreign operations translation                      157                     587 

Net chnage in fair value of cash flow hedges 34.3                   3 704                (1 396)

Income tax on other comprehensive income 13                    (704)                     265 

Total other comprehensive income                 3 157                  (544)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD               28 569              16 670 

Comprehensive income for the period, attributed to: 

 Parent shareholders 28 569               16 670              

 Non-controlling interest (564)                   79                     

Profit per share in PLN:

– basic profit for the reporting period 14 0.21 0.14

– diluted profit for the reporting period 14 0.21 0.14
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

as at 31 December 2017  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Notes (restated/*)

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 16                 12 896                10 229 

Intangible assets 18                 75 983                72 352 

Deferred tax assets 13.3                   8 651                22 960 

Other long-term receivables 23                   2 850                  2 371 

            100 380            107 912 

Current assets

Inventories 22               397 447              421 995 

Short-term financial assets 20                      786                         5 

Income tax receivables                   6 926                  7 439 

Trade and other receivables 23               695 902              624 593 

Cash and cash equivalents 24                 43 012                90 951 

        1 144 073         1 144 983 

TOTAL ASSETS         1 244 453         1 252 895 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

as at 31 December 2017  

 

 

/* See Note 10 

 

 

 

Ilona Weiss Andrzej Kuźniak Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski Krystyna Cybulska 

President Vice-President Vice-President Chief Accountant 

    

     Warsaw, 19 April 2018 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  (restated/*) 

Equity 

Share capital 25.1               125 267              125 267 

Share premium 26                 39 825                39 825 

Treasury shares 26.1               (10 065)              (10 065)

Other reserve capital 26.2                   1 592                (1 070)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations                   2 042                  1 885 

Retained profit 26.3               130 390              114 222 

Equity (attributable to parent shareholders)             289 051            270 064 

Non-controlling interest 26.4                   4 541                  5 105 

Total equity             293 592            275 169 

Long-term liabilities

Provisions for employee benefits 21.2                      597                     651 

Other financial liabilities 29.3                      557                     505 

Other long-term liabilities 29.1                 10 183                12 075 

Provisions 28                      528                     535 

              11 865              13 766 

Short-term liabilities 

Current portion of interst bearing borrowings and debt instruments 27               132 684              148 949 

Liabilities due to employee benefits 29.2                 15 074                13 870 

Other financial liabilities 29.3                   1 033                  4 570 

Income tax liabilities                   1 725                  2 615 

Trade and other liabilities 29.1               785 795              791 137 

Provisions 28                   2 685                  2 819 

            938 996            963 960 

Total liabilities             950 861            977 726 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         1 244 453         1 252 895 



 

ABC DATA S.A. CAPITAL GROUP  

Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year closed on 31 December 2017 

(PLN ‘000) 

 

Accounting Principles (Policy) and Supplementary Explanatory Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 11 

to 66 form an integral part thereof. 

8 

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

for the financial year closed on 31 December 2017 

 

 
 

 

Ilona Weiss Andrzej Kuźniak Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski Krystyna Cybulska 

President Vice-President Vice-President Chief Accountant 

    

Warsaw, 19 April 2018 

Year ended 31 

December 

2017

Year ended 31 

December 

2016

Notes

Cash flow from operating activities

Gross profit from continuing operations               46 359              22 233 

Adjusted by:

Amortization / Depreciation 12.6                   5 868                  2 613 

Cost of share-based payments 21.1                        12                       61 

(Profit)/loss on investing activities                        (8)                     (11)

(Increase)/ decrease in receivables               (71 788)              (45 376)

(Increase)/ decrease in inventories                 24 548                  6 392 

Increase/ (decrease) in liabilities, except for borrowings                 (7 234)              121 682 

Financial income 12.3                 (3 477)                   (136)

Financial expenses 12.4                   9 919                15 708 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities to employees                   1 150                  1 387 

Change in provisions 28                    (141)                (1 231)

Income tax paid                 (7 807)              (10 393)

Other                   2 920                (6 996)

Net cash flow from operating activities                     321            105 933 

Cash flow from investing activities

Sales of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets                        87                       78 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 16,18               (11 755)                (8 356)

Acquisition of a subsidiary after deduction of funds acquired                         -               (17 091)

Interest received 12.3                      117                     136 

Net cash flow from investing activities             (11 551)             (25 233)

Cash flow from financing activities

Inflow from bank borrowing                   5 000                         -  

Repaid finance lease liabilities                    (469)                     (61)

Dividend paid 15                 (9 808)              (47 812)

Repaid bank borrowings               (10 962)                (4 370)

Change of overdrafts 27               (10 303)                39 470 

Interest paid               (10 168)                (9 028)

Other financial inflows                          1 

Net cash flow from financing activities             (36 709)             (21 801)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents               (47 939)                58 899 

Opening balance of cash               90 951              32 052 

Closing balance of cash 24               43 012              90 951 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

for the financial year closed on 31 December 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Ilona Weiss Andrzej Kuźniak Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski Krystyna Cybulska 

President Vice-President Vice-President Chief Accountant 

 

Warsaw, 19 April 2018 

  

Notes Share capital
Share 

premium

Treasury 

shares

Exchange 

differences on 

foreign 

operations 

translation

Other reserve 

capital

Retained 

profit
Net profit Total Non-

controlling 

interest

Share capital 

total

12 months 2017

As at 1 January 2017            125 267              39 825             (10 065)                 1 885               (1 070)            114 222                         -             270 064                 5 105            275 169 

Net profit for the period                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                 25 976                25 976                   (564)              25 412 

Other net comprehensive income for the 

period                         -                          -                          -                      157                  3 000                         -                          -                   3 157                         -                  3 157 

Comprehensive income for the period                         -                          -                          -                      157                  3 000                         -                 25 976                29 133                   (564)              28 569 

Acquisition of a subsidiary                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -  

Share-based payments 21.1                         -                          -                          -                          -                        12                         -                          -                        12                         -                       12 

Reclassification on profit or loss                         -                          -                          -                          -                    (350)                         -                          -                    (350)                         -                   (350)

Dividend paid 15                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                 (9 808)                         -                 (9 808)                         -                (9 808)

As at 31 December 2017            125 267              39 825             (10 065)                 2 042                 1 592            104 414              25 976            289 051                 4 541            293 592 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

for the financial year closed on 31 December 2016 

 

 

 

 

Ilona Weiss Andrzej Kuźniak Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski Krystyna Cybulska 

President Vice-President Vice-President Chief Accountant 

 

 

Warsaw, 19 April 2018 

Notes Share capital
Share 

premium

Treasury 

shares

Exchange 

differences on 

foreign 

operations 

translation

Other reserve 

capital

Retained 

profit
Net profit Total Non-

controlling 

interest

Share capital 

total

12 months 2016

As at 1 January 2016            125 267              39 825             (10 065)                 1 298                         -             144 899                         -             301 224            301 224 

Net profit for the period                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                 17 135                17 135                       79              17 214 

Other net comprehensive income for the 

period                         -                          -                          -                      587                (1 131)                         -                          -                    (544)                         -                   (544)

Comprehensive income for the period                         -                          -                          -                      587                (1 131)                         -                 17 135                16 591                       79              16 670 

Acquisition of a subsidiary                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                   5 026                 5 026 

Share-based payments 21.1                         -                          -                          -                          -                        61                         -                          -                        61                         -                       61 

Reclassification on profit or loss                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -  

Dividend paid 15                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -               (47 812)                         -               (47 812)                         -              (47 812)

As at 31 December 2016            125 267              39 825             (10 065)                 1 885               (1 070)              97 087              17 135            270 064                 5 105            275 169 
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (POLICY) AND SUPPLEMENTARY 

EXPLANATORY NOTES 

 

 

 

1. General information 

 

The ABC Data S.A. Capital Group (the “Group”) comprises ABC Data S.A. (the “Parent”, the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (see Note 2). The consolidated financial statements of the Group cover the financial year closed on 

31 December 2017 and include comparative data for the financial year closed on 31 December 2016.  

 

The Parent is entered in the Register of Entrepreneurs of the National Court Register kept by the District Court, 

13th Commercial Division of the National Court Register, under KRS number: 0000287132. The Parent was 

assigned the following statistical number REGON: 141054682.  

  

The duration of the Parent and the members of the Capital Group is indefinite. 

 

The Group’s core business includes: 

• wholesale of computers, peripherals and software, 

• wholesale of electronic and telecommunication equipment, 

• manufacture of computers and peripherals, 

• software-related activities, 

• data processing, hosting and similar activities, 

• repair and maintenance of computers and peripherals, 

• other IT and computer services, 

• IT equipment administration, 

• other non-school forms of education. 

 

MCI Capital S.A. is the ultimate parent of the ABC Data S.A. Capital Group, and it controls the Group through its 

subsidiary: MCI Venture Projects Spółka z ograniczoną odpowiedzialnością VI S.K.A.  
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2. Composition of the Group 

The Group is composed of ABC Data S.A. and the following subsidiaries: 

 

 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the share in the total number of votes held by the Parent in its 

subsidiaries was equal to the interest in their share capitals. 

Since 22 December 2015, ABC Data GmbH has been in liquidation. 

3. Composition of the Management Board of the Parent 

As at 1 January 2017, the Management Board of the Parent was composed of: 

Ilona Weiss – President; 

Juliusz Niemotko – Vice-President; 

Andrzej Kuźniak – Vice-President; 

Maciej Kowalski – Vice-President. 

On 22 May 2017, Mr. Juliusz Niemotko resigned from the Board (Current Report No. 20/2017). On 11 December 

2017, Mr. Maciej Kowalski resigned from the Board (Current Report No. 47/2017).  

As at 31 December 2017, the Management Board of the Parent was composed of: 

Ilona Weiss – President; 

Andrzej Kuźniak - Vice-President. 

On 19 February 2018, the Supervisory Board appointed Mr. Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski as Vice-President of the 

Company’s Management Board, effective from 1 March 2018 (Current Report No. 6/2018). 

As at the date of preparation hereof, the Management Board of the Parent was composed of: 

Ilona Weiss – President; 

Andrzej Kuźniak – Vice-President; 

Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski – Vice-President.   

Entity

Registered 

office Core business 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

ABC Data s.r.o
Prague (Czech 

Republic)

Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software.
100% 100%

ABC Data s.r.o
Bratislava 

(Slovakia)

Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software.
100% 100%

UAB "ABC Data Lietuva"
Vilnius 

(Lithuania)

Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software
100% 100%

ABC Data Marketing Sp. z 

o.o.
Warsaw

Managing intellectual property rights, 

marketing activities.
100% 100%

ABC Data Hungary Kft
Budapest 

(Hungary)

Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software.
100% 100%

ABC Data Distributie SRL
Bucharest 

(Romania)

Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software.
100% 100%

ABC Data Germany GmbH i L
Munich 

(Germany)

Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software.
100% 100%

iSource Warsaw
Wholesale of computers, peripherals and 

software.
100% 100%

ABC Data Finanse Sp. z o.o. Warsaw Accounting services 100% 100%

SPV Sail Sp. z o.o. Warsaw Activities of holding companies 100% n/a

S4E S.A. Cracow
Services related to software, data 

processing, hardware adviosory
81.3% n/a

Interest in the share capital 
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4. Approval of the financial statements 

These consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the Management Board on 19 April 

2018. 

5. Material values based on professional judgement and estimates 

5.1. Professional judgement and uncertainty of estimates 

Apart from accounting estimates, professional judgement of the management in such areas as the assessment of 

indications of asset impairment, projections of future cash flows used as the basis for goodwill impairment tests, 

as well as estimates of provisions, was the key factor affecting the application of the accounting principles (policy) 

to the issues presented below. 

Below, the Group presents the key assumptions for the future as well as other major sources of uncertainty 

identified at the balance sheet date, which involve a substantial risk of considerable adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the following financial year.  

Asset impairment  

Inventories 

The Group estimates impairment losses on inventories reducing their value to the net realizable value on the basis 

of an analysis of the margin on goods sold in the month immediately preceding the balance sheet date and on the 

basis of the mark-up of selling expenses. It also estimates impairment losses on slow-moving goods (Note 22). 

Receivables 

Impairment losses are recognized for non-insured past due receivables from contracting parties, receivables from 

debtors in liquidation or bankruptcy and based on an individual assessment of bad debt risk related to specific 

receivables (Note 23).  

Goodwill 

The Group tested its goodwill for impairment. It required estimating the value in use of the cash generating unit. 

The value in use is estimated through determination of future cash flows generated by the cash generating unit and 

it requires determination of a discount rate for the calculation of the present value of the said cash flows (Note 18).  

Deferred tax asset 

The Group recognizes a deferred tax asset on the assumption that it will generate taxable profit sufficient to realize 

the asset in the future. If the taxable profit was to decrease considerably in the future, the above assumption might 

prove baseless (Note 13.3). 

Provisions 

Provisions for bonuses 

The Group recognizes provisions for bonuses (sales-based cash bonuses) for buyers. The amount of such 

provisions results from the assessment of whether the conditions for bonus payment, as set out in contracts and 

agreements, will be satisfied. In particular, bonus estimates concern the reaching or exceeding of specific sales 

levels in transactions with contracting parties when the billing period has not ended yet. 

Provisions for employee benefits 

The Group recognizes a provision for annual bonuses for employees and management board members, paid 

vacation and retirement benefits. Provisions for bonuses are recognized on an aggregate basis for each employee 

group. Bonuses that depend on the financial result of the Group are calculated considering the degree of adherence 

to the budget in a given period. The provision for paid vacation is calculated based on the number of outstanding 

days off and individual salaries and wages, considering social security charges.  The provision for retirement 

benefits is calculated by an actuary based on a model which takes account of the age structure of the staff, years 

in service, probability of retiring without changing employers, salaries and wages and time value of money (Notes 

21.2 and 29.2). 
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Other provisions 

The Group recognizes provisions for guarantee service costs (Note 28.2), open purchase orders (Note 28.3), 

expenses which have not been billed by suppliers until the end of the reporting period and disputed amounts subject 

to litigation, including reprographic fees (Note 30). 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments which are not traded on an active market is measured using appropriate 

valuation techniques. While selecting appropriate methods and assumptions, the Group uses professional 

judgement. The fair value measurement methods applied to financial instruments have been presented in Note 34. 

Depreciation and amortization rates 

Depreciation and amortization rates are determined based on the estimated useful life of fixed and intangible assets. 

Every year the Company reviews the adopted useful lives based on current estimates (Notes 9.3 and 9.4). 

6. Basis for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except derivative financial 

instruments. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been presented in Polish zlotys (PLN) and all figures are in PLN 

thousand, unless stated otherwise.  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the assumption that the Group companies 

will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future. As at the date of their approval, no circumstances were 

identified that would pose a threat to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

6.1. Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as endorsed by the European Union. As at the date of approval of these financial 

statements for publication, considering the IFRS implementation process taking place in the EU and the Group’s 

operations, as regards the accounting principles applied by the Group, the IFRS which came into force do not differ 

from those endorsed by the EU.  

IFRS consist of standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 

and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

6.2. Functional and presentation currency 

 

PLN is the functional currency of the Parent, while other Group companies, operating outside the territory of 

Poland, have the following functional currencies: CZK (ABC Data Czechia), EUR (ABC Data Slovakia, ABC 

Data Germany, ABC Data Lithuania), HUF (ABC Data Hungary) and RON (ABC Data Distributie).  The Polish 

zloty is the presentation currency of the Capital Group.  

These consolidated financial statements have been presented in Polish zlotys (PLN) and all figures are in PLN 

thousand, unless stated otherwise. 
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7. Changes in accounting principles 

Amendments to existing standards first applied in the Group’s financial statements for 2017 

The following amendments to the existing standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and endorsed by the EU have been first applied in the Group's financial statements for 2017: 

• Amendments to IAS 7 “Cash Flow Statement” – Initiative concerning disclosures – endorsed by the EU on 

6 November 2017 (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2017), 

 

• Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Tax” – Recognition of assets for deferred income tax on unrealized loss – 

endorsed by the EU on 6 November 2017 (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2017), 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 12 resulting from “IFRS Improvements (2014-2016)” – amendments to standards 

resulting from the annual IFRS improvement process (IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28) aimed in particular at 

resolving inconsistencies and clarifying wording – endorsed by the EU on 7 February 2018 (amendments to 

IFRS 12 are applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2017). 

The aforesaid amendments to standards have not had a considerable effect on the Group financial statements for 

the year 2017. 

8. New standards and amendments to standards 

New standards and amendments to existing standards that have already been issued by the IASB and 

approved by the EU, but which have not yet entered into force 

 

• IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” – endorsed by the EU on 22 November 2016 (applicable to annual periods 

starting on or after 1 January 2018), 

 

• IFRS 15 “Revenue from the Contracts with Clients” and amendments to IFRS 15 “Effective Date of IFRS 

15” – endorsed by the EU on 22 November 2016 (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 

2018), 

 

• IFRS 16 “Leases” – endorsed by the EU on 31 October 2017 (applicable to annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019); 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based payments” – Classification and valuation of share-based payments 

– endorsed by the EU on 27 February 2018 (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2018), 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” – Application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” together 

with IFRS 4 “Insurance Instruments” – endorsed by the EU on 3 November 2017 (applicable to annual periods 

starting on or after 1 January 2018 or at the time of the first application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”), 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Clients” – Clarification to IFRS 15 “Revenue 

from Contracts with Clients – endorsed by the EU on 31 October 2017 (applicable to annual periods starting 

on or after 1 January 2018), 

 

• Amendments to IAS 40 „Investment Property” – Transfers of investment property – endorsed by the EU 

on 14 March 2018 (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2018), 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 resulting from “IFRS Improvements (2014-2016)” – amendments to 

standards resulting from the annual IFRS improvement process (IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28) aimed in 

particular at resolving inconsistencies and clarifying wording – endorsed by the EU on 7 February 2018 

(amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2018), 
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• Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

(applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019); 

• Interpretation of IFRIC 22 “Transactions in Foreign Currencies and Advance Payments” – (applicable 

to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2018). 

The Group decided not to take advantage of the possibility to apply the above-mentioned new standards earlier 

and to change the existing standards. 

 

Impact of implementation of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Clients” 

 

The IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Clients” establishes a Five-Step Revenue Recognition Model for 

recognizing revenue arising from the contracts with clients. In accordance with IFRS 15, revenue is recognized in 

the amount of remuneration which, as expected, is due in exchange for the transfer of promised goods or services 

to the client. The new standard will replace all existing requirements regarding revenue recognition in accordance 

with IFRS. 

 

According to the Group’s estimates, the implementation of IFRS 15 will not have a significant effect on the 

recognition of revenue and the financial statements of the Group. 

The Group generates its revenue mainly from IT hardware, software and household appliances distribution, as well 

as from the provision of services in the field of marketing, logistics and training. 

The current method of revenue recognition applied by the Group is generally in line with IFRS 15. 

The Group recognizes all kinds of bonuses and discounts payable to contracting parties in the period in which the 

goods were sold. Returns of sold goods made after the balance sheet date reduce revenue for the period in which 

the sale took place. The impact of delivery terms on the moment of revenue recognition is also consistent with 

IFRS 15. 

The services provided by the majority of Group companies are of a short-term nature, and their revenue is not 

required to be settled over time.  

A part of the Group’s revenue comes from agreements with contracting parties for the simultaneous sale of 

equipment, licenses and services, including long-term agreements. If an invoice for the contract is issued jointly 

for all its elements, the following standard is required: identification of the contract, identification of contractual 

obligations to perform services, determination of the transaction price, allocation of transaction price to contractual 

obligations and recognition of revenue at the point the obligations are fulfilled. 

According to the Group, the requirements of the standard are generally met through the isolation of revenue from 

maintenance services provided throughout the after-sales phase. Based on a specific future transaction price, the 

relevant part of revenue is, at the time of sale, recognized as deferred revenue and recognized in revenue only 

when the liabilities are fulfilled. 

  

Impact of implementation of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 

The IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments” defines the requirements for recognition and measurement of financial assets, 

financial liabilities and certain sale agreements regarding non-financial items. It replaces IAS 39 Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement standard. 

The IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model defined in IAS 39 with the “expected credit loss” model (ECL).  

The Group has developed a methodology for calculating the expected credit loss for trade receivables. 

 General concept and methodology 

To calculate the expected credit loss (ECL) for trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified method of lifetime 

ECL calculation using a provision matrix estimated based on historical repayment of sales invoices. 

The Group assumes that the credit risk for trade receivables is defined by the number of days of delay in repayment, 

based on which the value of PD is estimated. 
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Definition of default 

The Group assumes that receivables outstanding over 60 days (counting from the invoice due date) bear mark of 

default on the part of the contracting party. 

Probability of Default (PD) 

For the purpose of estimation of PD, 4 risk groups were distinguished based on the delay on the payment date 

criterion: not overdue, overdue from 1 to 30 days, overdue from 31 to 60 days, overdue more than 60 days (default). 

The PD in particular risk groups is estimated on the basis of historical delays in the repayment of trade receivables. 

The company estimates the PD based on the history of repaid sales invoices within the period not longer than 4 

years. 

Segmentation of contracting parties 

Due to the business characteristics of sales and the credit risk profile resulting therefrom, the Company 

distinguishes four groups of contracting parties (one group of internal contracting parties and three groups of 

external contracting parties), for whom it estimates the PD. For the purpose of calculating the expected credit loss, 

the Company applies a separate PD estimation to each of the groups. 

Security measures 

The Group benefits from a trade receivables insurance where, at the level of a given contracting party, there is a 

defined overdraft limit covered by the insurance. Additionally, the amount of own share is included in the 

calculation of the expected credit loss. 

Calculation of expected credit loss 

The basis for calculating the expected credit loss are trade receivables from a given contracting party.  

The amount of ECL for individual receivables from a given contracting party is calculated by multiplying it by the 

PD applicable to the given outstanding period and the percentage own share in loss. 

Forward-looking information 

IFRS 9 requires that the estimation of expected credit loss include forward-looking information. Taking into 

account the limited availability of data and the limited possibility to precisely quantify the impact of 

macroeconomic factors on the parameters of credit risk, the Group developed a two-step approach to apply the 

forward looking factor: 

1) Qualitative part 

Expert assessment of the risk related to the timely repayment of trade receivables as a result of expected changes 

in macroeconomic factors in the future, based on such criteria as current GDP growth, 

leading indicators for the economy (e.g. PMI), inflation value, unemployment rate, retail sales growth. 
2) Quantitative part 

Adjustment of PD rates is based on historical variability of PD rates calculated on the basis of annual periods. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group calculated the impairment loss in accordance with the above-described 

methodology, which did not differ significantly from the impairment loss estimated based on the existing rules.  

 

Impact of implementation of IFRS 16 “Leases” 

The IFRS 16 standard replaces the existing leasing regulations (IAS 17), and fundamentally changes the approach 

to leasing contracts of various nature by obliging lessees to recognize on their balance sheets assets and liabilities 

due to concluded leasing contracts regardless of their type. Currently, the use of finance lease within the Group is 

minor. Passenger cars in most Group companies are used under operating lease agreements. Additionally, the 

Group leases properties under long-term contracts (note 17.1). Disclosure of these assets and corresponding 

liabilities in the balance sheet may have a significant impact on its structure and balance sheet total. In addition, 

the amount of financial expenses, depreciation and amortisation will increase, which will affect the EBITDA rate. 

The Group has not yet estimated the impact of the amendment to the standard on its financial statements. Future 

minimum lease payments due to operating lease agreements in accordance with the existing standards are presented 

in note 17.1.  
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Impact of amendments to the remaining standards 

According to the Company’s estimates, the remaining new standards listed above and the amendments to existing 

standards would have no significant impact on the financial statements if applied by the Company at the balance 

sheet date. 

 

New standards and amendments to existing standards issued by the IASB, but not yet approved for use in 

the EU  

Currently, the IFRS in the form approved by the EU do not significantly differ from the regulations issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), except for new standards, amendments to standards and the 

new interpretation as below, which have not yet been approved for use in the EU as at 19 April 2018 (the effective 

dates below relate to the standards in their full version): 

 

• IFRS 14 „Deferred Budget Balance of Regulated Activities” (applicable to annual periods starting on or 

after 1 January 2016) – the European Commission has decided not to initiate the approval process of this 

provisional standard for use inside the EU pending the issuance of the final IFRS 14, 

 

• IFRS 17 „Insurance Contracts” – (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2021), 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 „Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 „Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures” – Sale or transfer of assets between the investor and its associated company or joint 

venture and subsequent amendments (the effective date of the amendments has been deferred until the 

investigation of the equity method is completed), 

 

• Amendments to IAS 19 „Employee Benefits” – Scheme modification, limitation and settlement (applicable 

to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2019),  

 

• Amendments to IAS 28 „Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” – Long-term share in associated 

entities and joint ventures (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2019), 

 

• Amendments to various standards “IFRS Improvements (2015-2017)” – amendments to standards 

resulting from the annual IFRS improvement process (IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IFRS 23) aimed in 

particular at resolving inconsistencies and clarifying wording (applicable to annual periods starting on or after 

1 January 2019); 

 

 

• Interpretation of IFRIC 23 „Uncertainty regarding Income Tax Accounting” (applicable to annual 

periods starting on or after 1 January 2019). 

 

 

According to the Company’s estimates, the new standards listed above, amendments to existing standards and their 

interpretation would have no significant impact on the financial statements if applied by the Company at the 

balance sheet date.  

The hedge accounting of the financial assets and liabilities portfolio whose rules have not been approved for use 

in the EU remain external to the regulations approved by the EU. 

According to the Company's estimates, the application of the hedge accounting of the financial assets and liabilities 

portfolio in accordance with IAS 39 „Financial Instruments: Recognition and valuation” would have no 

significant impact on the financial statements if applied for use at the balance sheet date. 
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9. Significant accounting policies 

9.1. Consolidation principles 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of ABC Data S.A. and the financial 

statements of its subsidiaries, prepared for the financial year closed on 31 December 2017. The financial statements 

of the subsidiaries have been prepared for the same reporting period as the financial statements of the Parent, in 

line with consistent accounting policies and based on consistent accounting principles for similar transactions and 

economic events. Adjustments are made in order to eliminate any discrepancies between the adopted accounting 

principles. 

All material balances and transactions between the Group companies, including unrealized gains on intra-group 

transactions, have been eliminated in whole. Unrealized losses are eliminated, unless they are evidence 

impairment. 

The subsidiaries are consolidated in the period from the date when the Group assumes control over them to the 

date when the control is no longer exercised. The Parent controls an entity when it holds, directly or indirectly 

through its subsidiaries, more than a half of the voting rights in the entity, unless it can be evidenced that such 

interest is not tantamount to exercising control. The control is also exercised when the Company manages financial 

and operational policy of the entity.  

Changes in the Parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the Parent losing control of the 

subsidiary are recognized as equity transactions. To reflect changes in its relative interest in a subsidiary, the Group 

adjusts the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests. Any differences between the amount 

of the non-controlling interest adjustment and the fair value of the consideration paid or received are recognized 

in equity and attributed to equity holders of the Parent.  

9.2. Foreign currency translations  

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Polish zloty (PLN) at the exchange rate applicable as at the date 

of transaction.  

As at the balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Polish zloty 

are translated into PLN at the National Bank of Poland’s average exchange rate for a given currency applicable at 

the end of the reporting period. The exchange differences are recognized as other operating revenue or expenses, 

or capitalized within assets if so required by the accounting principles (policies). Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities recognized at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are disclosed at the historical exchange 

rate applicable as at the transaction date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognized at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated at the exchange rate effective as at the fair value measurement date.  

For currencies to which hedge accounting principles apply, exchange differences resulting from valuation, in the 

part considered to be an effective hedge of future cash flows, are recognized in equity and subsequently increase 

or reduce sales revenue, as appropriate, once the hedged sales transactions have been completed. Th exchange 

differences which are not a fully effective hedge are recognized as other operating revenue or expenses in the 

reporting period. 

The following exchange rates have been used for the purposes of balance sheet valuation: 

 

 

 

The functional currency of foreign subsidiaries is the currency of the country where their registered offices are 

located. As at the balance sheet date, assets and liabilities of those foreign subsidiaries are translated into the Group 

presentation currency at the exchange rate effective as at the balance sheet date, and their statements of 

Exchange rate as at 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

EUR 4.1709 4.4240

USD 3.4813 4.1793

CZK 0.1632 0.1637

RON 0.8953 0.9749

100 HUF 1.3449 1.4224



ABC DATA S.A. CAPITAL GROUP 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year closed on 31 December 2017 

Accounting Principles (Policy) and Supplementary Explanatory Notes 

(PLN ‘000) 

 

20 

comprehensive income are translated at the average exchange rate for the reporting period, calculated as an 

arithmetic mean of the exchange rates published by the National Bank of Poland on the last day of the month in a 

given year. The exchange differences from such translation are recognized in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated within a separate item of equity. At the date of sale of a foreign entity, the deferred exchange 

differences accumulated in equity, relative to a given foreign entity, are recognized in profit and loss account.  

 

Average exchange rates applied in each reporting period: 

 

 

9.3. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. The initial value of 

fixed assets includes their cost increased by any expenses related directly with the purchase and bringing the asset 

to a usable condition. The cost also includes the cost of spare parts for machines and devices when incurred, 

provided that the recognition criteria are met. The costs incurred after the date of making a fixed asset available 

for use, such as costs of maintenance and repair, are recognized in profit or loss when incurred.  

Upon acquisition, fixed assets are divided into components of material value, to which separate useful lives may 

be assigned. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of an asset: 

 

Type Period  

Technical equipment and machines 3-10 years 

Office equipment 3-7 years 

Vehicles 5-10 years 

 

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of assets are reviewed on an annual basis and, if necessary, 

adjusted with effect as of the date of the review. 

An item of property, plant and equipment may be derecognized following its sale or if no economic benefits are 

expected to be derived from the continued use of the asset. Any gains or losses (calculated as the difference 

between possible net proceeds from sale and the carrying amount of the item) resulting from derecognition of the 

asset are recognized in profit or loss for the period of the said derecognition.  

Fixed assets under construction include fixed assets in the course of construction or assembly, which are 

recognized at cost less any impairment losses. Fixed assets under construction are not depreciated until their 

construction is complete and until they are made available for use.  

9.4. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired in a separate transaction or developed (if they meet the recognition criteria for the cost 

of research and development) are initially recognized at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 

combination is equal to their fair value as at the date of combination. After initial recognition, intangible assets are 

recognized at cost less amortization and impairment losses. The expenditures incurred on intangible assets 

developed internally, except capitalized R&D costs, are not capitalized but recognised as an expense in the period 

in which they are incurred. 

The Group determines whether the useful life of intangible assets is indefinite or finite. Intangible assets with a 

finite useful life are amortized over their useful life and tested for impairment each time when there is any 

indication that the assets may be impaired. The period and method of amortization of intangible assets with a finite 

useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each financial year. Changes in the estimated useful life or in the 

Average exchge rate for the year 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

EUR 4.2447 4.3757

USD 3.7439 3.9680

CZK 0.1614 0.1618

RON 0.9282 0.9739

100 HUF 1.3724 1.4034
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expected pattern of consumption of economic benefits derived from an intangible asset are recognized by a change 

in the amortization period or method, respectively, and regarded as changes in estimates. Amortization of 

intangible assets with a finite useful life is recognized in profit or loss, in the category which corresponds to the 

function of the asset. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets which are not used are tested for impairment 

once a year, at the level of individual assets or cash generating units.  

The useful lives are reviewed on an annual basis and, if necessary, adjusted with effect as of the date of the review.  

R&D costs 

Research cost is recognized in profit or loss when incurred. Expenses related to R&D carried out on a specific 

project are carried forward to the following period if they are considered recoverable in the future. After initial 

recognition of R&D costs, the historical cost model is used. It requires that assets be recognized at cost less 

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Capitalized costs are amortized over the period 

when sales revenue is expected to be generated on a given project. 

Summary of principles applied to intangible assets of the Group: 

 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between the net 

proceeds from sale and the carrying amount of a given asset, and they are recognized in profit or loss upon 

derecognition. 

9.4.1. Goodwill 

Goodwill arising from acquisition of an entity is initially recognized at cost, being the surplus of:  

• the total of: 

(i) the consideration paid; 

(ii) the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; and 

(iii) in the case of a business combination performed in stages, the fair value of the acquirer’s previously 

held equity interest in the acquiree as at the date of acquisition. 

• over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is recognized at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested 

for impairment once a year, or more often, if there is any indication of impairment. Goodwill is not amortized.  

As at the date of acquisition, acquired goodwill is allocated to each cash generating unit which may benefit from 

the synergy. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill has been allocated: 

• corresponds to the lowest level in the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management 

purposes; and 

• is not larger than one operating segment designated in line with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. 

Impairment losses are determined based on estimates of the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit which 

goodwill has been allocated to. If the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit is lower than the carrying 

amount, an impairment loss is recognized. If goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit and a part of the unit 

operations is sold, goodwill related to the sold operations is included in its carrying amount at the time of 

determining gains or losses on the sale of such operations. In such circumstances, goodwill sold is determined 

based on the relative value of the operations sold and the value of the retained part of the cash generating unit. 

Computer software

Databases, Internet 

domains Development works Goodwill

Useful lives
2 -  years 4 - 5 years 5 - 10 years indefinite

Amortization method straight-line straight-line straight-line unamortized

Internally manufactured or 

acquired
Acquired Acquired Manufactured Acquired

Impairment test

Annual assessment 

of indication of 

impairment

Annual assessment 

of indication of 

impairment

Annual assessment 

of indication of 

impairment

Annual impairment 

test
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9.5. Lease  

The Group as a lessee 

Finance leases transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset onto the Group 

are recognized on the balance sheet as at the inception of the lease at the lower of two values: fair value of the 

leased fixed asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are split into financial 

expenses and a decrease in the balance of lease liabilities in order to arrive at a fixed interest rate on the outstanding 

liability. Financial expenses are recognized in profit or loss unless the capitalization requirements are met. 

Fixed assets used under finance lease agreements are depreciated over the shorter of two periods: estimated useful 

life of the fixed asset or the lease term. 

Leases whereby the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are 

classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments and the subsequent rent are charged to operating expenses 

in profit or loss using the straight-line method over the lease term.  

Contingent lease payments are expensed in the period when they become due. 

9.6. Impairment of non-financial non-current assets  

At the end of each reporting period, the Group verifies whether there is any indication that its non-financial non-

current assets may be impaired. If there is any indication of impairment or if an annual impairment test is necessary, 

the Group estimates the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit which the asset belongs to.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit corresponds to the fair value less costs necessary to 

sell the asset or cash generating unit, or its value in use, whichever higher. The recoverable amount is determined 

for individual assets unless an asset does not generate cash flows which are largely independent of those generated 

by other assets or groups of assets. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 

considered impaired and an impairment loss is recognized to a specified recoverable amount. When the value in 

use is estimated, projected cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses on assets used 

for purposes of continuing operations are charged to expenses which correspond to the function of the asset which 

has been impaired.  

As at the balance sheet date, the Group verifies whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognized 

on an asset in the preceding periods is redundant, or whether it should be reduced. If there is such indication, the 

Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. The prior impairment loss is reversed only when the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount of the asset have changed since the recognition of the last impairment 

loss. Then, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount may not 

exceed the carrying amount of the asset which would have been determined (taking account of depreciation) had 

the Group not recognized an impairment loss on the asset in the previous years. Reversals of impairment losses on 

assets are recognized immediately within revenue. Following the reversal of an impairment loss, in subsequent 

periods, depreciation of a given asset is adjusted so that during the remaining useful life of the asset its reviewed 

carrying amount, reduced by the residual value, could be systematically written down.  

9.7. Financial assets 

Categories of financial assets:  

• Held-to-maturity financial assets; 

• Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; 

• Loans and receivables; 

• Available-for-sale financial assets. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets are financial assets quoted on an active market, which are not derivatives, with 

fixed or determinable payments and defined maturity, which the Group intends to and is able to hold to maturity, 

other than: 

• those designated at initial recognition as measured at fair value through profit or loss; 

• those designated as available for sale; 

• those that meet the definition of loans and receivables. 
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Held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Held-to-

maturity financial assets are classified as non-current assets if their maturity exceeds 12 months of the balance 

sheet date. 

A financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss has to satisfy one of the following criteria: 

a) it is classified as held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are: 

• acquired mainly for the purpose of being sold in the short term; 

• a part of the portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together, and it is probable that 

they will generate profit in the short term;  

• derivative instruments (except those forming part of hedge accounting or financial guarantee agreements); 

b) classified to the category at initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39.  

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value taking into account their 

market value as at the balance sheet date, less sales transaction costs. Changes in the value of the aforesaid financial 

instruments are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as financial revenue or expenses. For 

contracts with one or more embedded derivatives, the entire contract may be classified as a financial asset 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. This does not apply to embedded derivatives which have no material 

impact on the cash flows from contracts, or when it is obvious without an analysis or after a brief analysis that if 

a similar hybrid instrument were first considered, the separation of an embedded derivative would be prohibited. 

At initial recognition, financial assets may be classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss if the 

following criteria are met: (i) such classification eliminates or significantly reduces recognition or measurement 

inconsistency (accounting mismatch); or (ii) these assets belong to a group of financial assets managed and 

evaluated based on their fair value in line with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial assets 

include embedded derivatives that should be recognized separately. As at 31 December 2017, the Group reported 

FX contracts in this category of assets (as at 31 December 2016, the asset category was not present).  

Loans and receivables are financial assets which have not been classified as derivatives, have fixed or determinable 

payments, and are not quoted on an active market. They are classified as current assets if their maturity does not 

exceed 12 months of the balance sheet date. Loans and receivables whose maturity exceeds 12 months of the 

balance sheet date are classified as non-current assets. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are designated as available for sale or 

are not classified to any of the aforementioned three categories of assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are 

recognized at fair value, increased by transaction costs which are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 

a financial asset. If no stock market prices are available on an active market and the fair value may not be estimated 

reliably using alternative methods, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at cost adjusted by impairment 

losses. Positive and negative differences between the fair value of available-for-sale assets (if a market price set 

on an active market is available or the fair value may be estimated reliably otherwise) and cost, less deferred tax, 

are recognized in other comprehensive income. Any decline in value of available-for-sale assets, resulting from 

impairment, is recognised as a financial expense. 

Acquisition and sale of financial assets are recognized as at the transaction date. At initial recognition, a financial 

asset is measured at fair value increased, for assets not classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss, 

by transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 

A financial asset is derecognized when the Group loses control over the contractual rights attached to the 

instrument; typically, when the instrument is sold or when all cash flows attributable to the instrument are 

transferred onto an independent third party.  

9.8. Impairment of financial assets 

As at each balance sheet date, the Group verifies whether there is any objective indication that a financial asset or 

a group of financial assets may be impaired. 

9.8.1. Assets recognised at amortized cost 

If there is any objective indication that a loss has been incurred due to impairment of loans and receivables 

measured at amortized cost, the impairment loss is equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial asset and the present value of projected future cash flows (excluding future losses due to bad debts, which 
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have not been incurred yet), discounted using the original (i.e. determined at initial recognition) effective interest 

rate. The carrying amount of an asset is reduced by recognition of an impairment loss. The loss is recognized in 

profit or loss.  

The Group first reviews whether there is any objective indication of impairment of individual financial assets 

which individually are material, as well as those which individually are not material. If the review shows that there 

is no objective indication that an individually analyzed financial asset may be impaired, whether it is material or 

not, the Group includes the asset in a group of financial assets with a similar credit risk and tests them for 

impairment collectively. Assets which are individually tested for impairment and for which an impairment loss 

has been recognized, or it has been determined that the previous one will not change, are not included in the 

collective test of a group of assets for impairment. 

If the impairment loss decreased in the subsequent period and the decrease can be objectively linked to an event 

taking place after the loss has been recognized, the prior impairment loss is reversed. The subsequent reversal of 

an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed 

its amortized cost as at the date of reversal. 

9.8.2. Financial assets recognised at cost  

If there is any objective indication of impairment of an unquoted equity instrument which is not measured at fair 

value as its fair value cannot be estimated reliably, or of a derivative instrument which is linked with and has to be 

settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the impairment loss is determined as the difference 

between the carrying amount of a financial asset and the present value of projected future cash flows discounted 

using the current market rate of return for similar financial assets.  

9.8.3. Available-for-sale financial assets 

If there is any objective indication that an available-for-sale financial asset may be impaired, the difference 

between the cost of the asset (less any repayment of the principal and amortization) and its present fair value, less 

any impairment losses previously recognized in profit or loss, is derecognized from equity and reclassified to profit 

or loss. Reversal of impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale cannot be recognized 

in profit or loss. If, in the subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument available for sale increases and the 

increase can be objectively linked to an event occurring after the impairment loss has been recognized in profit or 

loss, the amount of the reversed impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.  

9.9. Embedded derivatives 

Embedded derivatives are separated from the contracts and treated as derivatives if the following conditions are 

met: 

• the economic characteristics and risk of the embedded instrument are not closely related to the economic 

characteristics and risk of the host contract; and 

• a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded instrument would meet the definition of a 

derivative; 

• a hybrid (compound) instrument is not recognised at fair value and changes in its fair value are not recognized 

in profit or loss. 

Embedded derivatives are presented in a similar manner to separate derivatives which are not designated as 

hedging instruments. 

The extent to which, in accordance with IAS 39, the economic characteristics and risk of an embedded FX 

derivative are closely related to the economic characteristics and risk of the host contract also includes situations 

where the currency of the host contract is a currency typical for purchase or sales contracts involving non-financial 

items on a specific transaction market.  

The Group verifies whether an embedded derivative should be separated or not at its initial recognition. Embedded 

derivatives acquired in a business combination transaction are not reviewed again as at the business combination 

date (they are reviewed as at the date of their initial recognition by the acquire). 
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9.10. Derivative financial instruments and hedges 

For the purpose of hedging risks related to changes in foreign exchange rates, the Group mainly uses FX forwards. 

Such derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Derivatives are presented as assets if their value 

is positive or as liabilities if their value if negative.  

Any gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of derivatives which do not qualify for hedge 

accounting are directly recognized in the net profit or loss for the financial year.  

The fair value of FX forwards is measured by reference to the current forward rates applicable to contracts with 

similar maturity. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by reference to the market value of similar 

instruments. 

In hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:  

• fair value hedges, hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or a liability; or  

• cash flow hedges, hedging the exposure to changes in cash flows that are attributable to a specific risk 

associated with a recognized asset or liability or a forecast transaction; or 

• hedges of shares in the net assets of a foreign entity. 

Foreign currency hedges related to a firm commitment are accounted for as cash flow hedges.  

At the inception of the hedge, the Group formally designates and documents the hedging relationship, the risk 

management objective and the hedging strategy. The said documentation includes identification of the hedging 

instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of risk hedged and the method of assessment of the hedging 

instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value of the hedged item or cash flows 

related to the hedged risk. The hedge is expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or 

cash flows resulting from the hedged risk. The effectiveness of the hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis to 

determine if the hedge has been highly effective in all reporting periods for which it had been established.  

9.10.1. Cash flow hedges 

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to changes in cash flows that are attributable to a specific risk 

associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and that could affect profit 

or loss. A portion of gains or losses related to the hedging instrument that constitutes an effective hedge is 

recognized in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognized in profit or loss.  

If a hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in recognition of a financial asset or liability, the related gains 

or losses that were recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 

or loss in the same period or in the periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or 

loss. 

If a hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, or if a 

forecast transaction involving a non-financial asset or liability becomes a firm commitment to which a fair value 

hedge is planned to be applied, the gains or losses recognized previously in other comprehensive income are 

reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same period or in the periods during which the non-financial asset 

acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss. 

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of derivatives which do not qualify for hedge accounting 

are recognized directly in the net result for the current period. 

The Group no longer applies hedge accounting if the hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated or exercised, 

or if it no longer meets the criteria for application of hedge accounting principles. In such a case, the total gain or 

loss on a hedging instrument, which was initially recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

equity, is still recognized in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. If the forecast transaction is no longer 

expected to occur, the total net gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognized in the net profit or loss for the 

current period. 

9.10.2. Presentation in the cash flow statement 

Changes in the balance of derivatives and other reserve capitals from revaluation relating to hedge accounting are 

presented within the “Other” item in operating activities. 
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9.11. Inventories  

Inventories are measured at the lower of two values: cost and net realizable value. 

The costs incurred to bring inventory items to their present location and condition, both with respect to the current 

and previous year, are recognized as follows: 

• materials – at cost determined using the weighted average method; 

• goods – at cost determined using the weighted average method. 

The net realizable value is the estimated sales price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion 

and the estimated costs necessary to effect the sale. 

9.12. Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are recognized and presented at the originally billed amounts, less impairment losses relating to 

doubtful debts. An impairment loss on receivables is estimated when collection of the full amount due becomes 

unlikely.  

When the effect of the time value of money is significant, the value of receivables is determined by discounting 

projected future cash flows to their present value by applying a discount rate that reflects the current market 

assessments of the time value of money. If a discounting method has been applied, the increase in value of 

receivables due to the lapse of time is recognized as financial revenue. 

Other receivables include in particular advance payments related to future purchases of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets and inventories. Advance payments are presented considering the nature of the assets 

they concern, as current or non-current assets, respectively. As non-monetary assets, advance payments are not 

discounted. 

Receivables from the State Treasury are presented as other non-financial assets, except for CIT receivables, which 

are a separate item on the balance sheet.  

9.13. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits recognized on the balance sheet include cash at bank and at hand and short-term 

deposits with original maturity of up to three months. 

The balance of cash and cash equivalents recognized in the consolidated cash flow statement consists of the 

aforesaid cash and cash equivalents.  

9.14. Interest-bearing bank loans, credit facilities and debt securities 

At initial recognition, all bank loans, credit facilities and debt securities are recognized at fair value less costs 

incurred to obtain the loan or credit facility. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans, credit facilities and debt securities are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method. When determining the amortized cost, costs incurred to obtain the loan or 

credit facility as well as discounts or premiums related to the liability are taken into consideration. 

Revenue and expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon derecognition of a liability and as a result of 

measurement using the effective interest method. 

9.15. Trade and other liabilities 

Current trade liabilities are recognized at amount due. 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss include held-for-trading financial liabilities and 

those originally classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held 

for trading if they have been acquired to be sold in the near future. Derivatives, including separated embedded 

instruments, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. At 

initial recognition, financial liabilities may be classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss if the 

following criteria are met: (i) such classification eliminates or significantly reduces the treatment inconsistency 

where both measurement and recognition of profit or loss are subject to different regulations; or (ii) the liabilities 

form part of a group of financial liabilities that are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 

with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial liabilities include embedded derivatives that 
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should be recognized separately. As at 31 December 2017, this category of liabilities was not present (as at 31 

December 2016, the Group reported FX contracts in this category).  

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value taking into account 

their market value as at the balance sheet date, less sales transaction costs. Any changes in the fair value of such 

instruments are recognized in profit or loss as financial expenses or revenue.  

Other financial liabilities, which are not classified as financial instruments measured at fair value through profit 

or loss, are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation set out in the contract 

has been fulfilled, cancelled or has expired. Replacement of an existing debt instrument with an instrument with 

substantially different terms by the same entities is recognized as expiry of the original financial liability and 

recognition of a new one. Similarly, significant modification of the contract terms of an existing financial liability 

is recognized as expiry of the original liability and recognition of a new one. Differences in the carrying amounts 

resulting from the replacement are recognized in profit or loss. 

Other non-financial liabilities include in particular VAT liabilities to the tax office, personal income tax withheld 

and liabilities arising from advance payments received to be settled through delivery of goods or services. 

Other non-financial liabilities are recognized at amount due. 

9.16. Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the Group expects a refund of 

the costs for which a provision has been recognized (for example, under insurance contracts), the refund is 

recognized as a separate asset but only when it is virtually certain that the refund will be received. Expenses relating 

to a provision are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income less any refunds.  

Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting 

projected future cash flows to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and any potential risks specific to the liability. If a discounting method is applied, an 

increase in the provision due to the lapse of time is recognized as financial expenses. 

9.17. Retirement severance pays  

In accordance with the labor law, the Group’s employees are entitled to retirement severance pays. Severance pays 

are paid once when the employee retires. The amount of the benefit depends on the average salary of the employee. 

The Group recognizes a provision for future liabilities relating to retirement benefits to allocate expenses to the 

periods they pertain to. In accordance with IAS 19, retirement severance pays are post-employment defined benefit 

plans. Accrued liabilities are equal to discounted future payments, taking into account employee turnover, and 

pertain to the time left until the balance sheet date. Demographic and employee turnover data are based on 

historical information. Changes in provisions resulting from calculations are recognized in profit or loss. 

9.18. Share-based payments 

The Group’s employees (including Management Board members) receive bonuses in the form of shares.  

9.18.1. Equity-settled transactions 

The cost of transactions settled with employees in equity instruments is measured by reference to the fair value as 

at the grant date. The fair value is determined by an independent appraiser. Transactions settled in equity 

instruments are measured by reference to market vesting conditions (related to the price of Parent shares) and 

conditions other than the vesting conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized along with the corresponding increase in equity over the period 

in which the conditions related to efficiency/performance and/or work or services are satisfied and which ends on 

the day when specified employees acquire all rights to the benefits (the “vesting date”). The accumulated cost of 

equity-settled transactions as at the end of each balance sheet date, by the vesting date reflects the lapse of time of 

acquiring the rights and the number of awards which – in the opinion of the Management Board of the Parent as 

at that date based on the best estimates of the number of equity instruments – will be granted. 
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The Group does not recognize any costs related to awards the rights to which will not ultimately be granted, save 

for those where rights vesting depends on market conditions or conditions other than the vesting conditions, which 

are treated as vested whether the market conditions or conditions other than the vesting conditions have been 

satisfied or not, provided that all other efficiency/performance and/or work or service conditions have been met. 

If the terms of granting the equity-settled awards are modified, to meet the minimum requirement the costs are 

recognized as if the conditions did not change. Moreover, costs related to each increase in transaction value 

resulting from modification, measured as at the change date, are recognized. 

If the equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if the rights to the award were acquired at the cancellation 

date, and all costs of the award which have not been accounted for are immediately recognized. The same applies 

to awards where the conditions, other than the vesting conditions, controlled by the Parent or an employee are not 

met. However, if a cancelled award is replaced with a new award – designated as a substitute award on the day 

when it is granted, the cancelled award and the new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, i.e. as described above. 

9.18.2. Cash-settled transactions 

As regards share-based payments settled in cash, the fair value of payment is recognized as cost with a 

corresponding increase in liabilities. Initially, the fair value is estimated as at the grant date and distributed over 

the period during which the unconditional right to the payment is conferred on the employees. Liability 

measurement is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and as at the settlement date. Any changes in the fair 

value of a liability are recognized in profit loss for the period as personnel costs.  

9.19. Revenue 

Revenue is recognized insofar as it is probable that future economic benefits relating to a transaction will flow to 

the Group and the amount of such revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is recognized at the fair value of the 

consideration received or due, less VAT and discounts. Revenue is also recognized in line with the criteria set out 

below. 

9.19.1. Sale of goods and products  

Revenue is recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods and products have been 

transferred onto the buyer and the amount of revenue can be estimated reliably.  

9.19.2. Provision of services 

The Company does not provide any long-term services. Revenue from the provision of services is recognized in 

the period when the service was delivered. 

9.19.3. Interest 

Interest income is recognized as it accrues (using the effective interest method, i.e. the rate discounting future cash 

inflows over the estimated life of financial instruments) relative to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

9.19.4. Dividends 

Dividends are recognised at the time when shareholders’ rights to the dividends are established. 

9.20. Expenses 

9.20.1. Cost of sales 

The cost of sales includes the value of goods and licenses sold at cost, as well as consumption of materials and 

purchases of external services from subcontractors for the purpose of service provision.  

Furthermore, the cost of sales includes impairment losses on inventories, worn-out equipment and packaging 

recycling cost, reprographic fees, inventory differences, transport losses and changes in the balance of the 

provision for warranty repairs. 
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9.20.2. Selling expenses 

Selling expenses include personnel and administrative costs of sales, marketing and logistics departments, 

expenses related to storage, insurance and transport of goods, advertisement and complaint handling. Furthermore, 

they include costs of insurance of receivables and impairment losses on trade receivables. 

9.21. Taxes 

9.21.1. Current tax 

Current tax liabilities and receivables for the current and prior periods are measured at anticipated amounts payable 

to (due from) the tax authorities using tax rates and based on tax regulations which were enacted or substantively 

enacted as at the balance sheet date.  

9.21.2. Deferred tax 

For financial reporting purposes, the deferred tax is recognized in line with the balance sheet liability method with 

respect to temporary differences between the tax value of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount presented 

in the financial statements as at the balance sheet date. 

The deferred tax liability is recognized in relation to all taxable temporary differences: 

• except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the gross accounting profit or loss, nor the taxable profit or loss; and  

• for taxable temporary differences resulting from investments in subsidiaries or associates and interests in joint 

ventures, save for situations where the dates of reversal of temporary differences are controlled by the investor, 

and it is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all negative temporary differences as well as unused tax credits and losses 

carried forward in the amount of probable taxable income, which would allow for the use of the above differences, 

assets and losses: 

• except where the deferred tax asset relating to negative temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the gross accounting profit or loss nor the taxable profit or loss; and 

• for negative temporary differences resulting from investments in subsidiaries or associates and interests in 

joint ventures, the deferred tax asset is recognized on the balance sheet only to the extent that it is probable 

that the aforesaid temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future, and that it is probable that 

the future taxable income will enable the negative temporary differences to be offset. 

The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reviewed as at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered. An unrecognized deferred tax asset is again reviewed as at the balance sheet date and recognized up to 

the amount of probable future taxable income that will allow for recovering the asset in question. 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by reference to the tax rates expected to be applicable in the 

period when the asset is realized or the liability derecognized, assuming tax rates (and tax regulations) effective as 

at the balance sheet date, or those certain to be effective as at the aforementioned date as the basis. 

Income tax on items which are not recognized in profit or loss is not recognized in profit or loss, either, but in 

other comprehensive income in relation to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 

in relation to items recognized directly in equity. 

The Group offsets its deferred tax assets against the deferred tax liabilities only if it has an enforceable legal title 

to offset its current tax receivables with liabilities, whereas the deferred income tax concerns the same taxpayer 

and the same tax authority.   
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9.21.3. Value added tax 

Revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized less VAT, except: 

• situations where VAT paid at the time of purchase of assets or services may not be recovered from the tax 

authorities, in which case it is recognized as a part of the asset cost or as a part of a cost item; and 

• receivables and liabilities, which are recognized together with VAT. 

The net VAT amount recoverable from or payable to the tax authorities is recognized on the balance sheet as a 

part of receivables or liabilities.  

9.22. Net profit per share 

Net profit per share for each period is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period by the weighted average 

number of shares in the reporting period.  

10. Data comparability 

In the financial statements for 2016, the Group recognised a liability due to discounts from Group’s property 

lessors received in advance for the whole term of long-term rental agreements, in full as other short-term liabilities. 

Additionally, all deferred revenue, prepayments and deposits held with contracting parties were recognised in 

short-term items.  In these statements, the data for 2016 in the balance sheet have been restated to ensure 

comparability with data for 2017. Some of the above liabilities and receivables, which as at 31 December 2016 

were due or settled, after 31 December 2017 have been recognised correctly as “Other long-term liabilities” and 

“Other long-term receivables”.   

The impact of modified method for the recognition of liabilities and receivables on the Group's balance sheet and 

in explanatory notes: 

 

 

 

/* Those items were not present on the balance sheet for 2016. 

 

Balance sheet 31.12.2016 31.12.2016

it was restated

Other long-term receivables/* -                       2 371                

Trade and other receivables 626 964             624 593            

Other long-term liabilities/* -                       12 075

Trade and other liabilities 803 212 791 137
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11. Operating segments 

The Group carries out homogeneous trade activities. The Group’s operating segments include the Parent and its 

subsidiaries carrying out distribution activities in Czechia, Slovakia, Lithuania, Germany, Romania and Hungary. 

These segments meet the aggregation criteria specified in the IFRS 8.12, that is to say they have similar economic 

characteristics, they offer the same assortment of goods, they sell to the same customer category, and they use the 

same distribution methods.  

The scope of activities of S4E, which was acquired in 2016, includes distribution of computer hardware and 

software as well as the provision of services. According to the Management Board, the characteristics of the 

business model and the operations carried out by S4E do not make it a separate operating segment (as compared 

to the existing operations).  

Therefore, only one operating segment has been identified by the Group. 

Information by country 

Revenue from external clients:  

Explanatory note - receivables 31.12.2016 31.12.2016

it was restated

Security deposits for counterparts -                       165                   

Prepayments -                       2 206                

Total other long term receivables -                      2 371               

Trade receivables 609 338             609 338            

Prepayments 16 356               14 150              

VAT receivables 528                    528                   

Other receivables 742                    577                   

Total net receivables: 626 964           624 593          

Impairment loss on receivables 27 911               27 911              

Gross receivables 654 875           652 504          

Explanatory note - liabilities 31.12.2016 31.12.2016

it was restated

Discounts on rental agreements -                       11 075              

Deferred revenues -                       1 000                

Total other long-term liabilities -                       12 075              

Trade liabilities 710 143             710 143            

Liabilities due to VAT, customs duties and other benefits payable 37 296               37 296              

Accrued expenses 37 510               37 510              

Other liabilities including deferred income 18 263               6 188                

Total short-term liabilities 803 212           791 137          
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/* Czechia, Lithuania, Slovakia, Hungary, Romania 

/** In the financial statements for 2016, sales to German clients was recognized under “sales market”s. In these 

statements, it is recognized under “EU countries”. 

 

The above information regarding revenue is based on the clients’ residential details.  

 

Buyers with a significant share in sales 

 

Sales to none of the buyers exceed 10 per cent of the total sales. 

Revenue and expenses 

11.1. Other operating revenue  

 

 

/* In 2016, “Other” includes a profit on intangible assets contributed to BiznesLinkCO in the amount of PLN 

6,367. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

(restated/**)

Poland            3 274 033           3 316 517 

Sales markets /*               805 499              923 700 

Other EU Member States               522 185              555 028 

Other countries                 33 577              131 492 

4 635 294 4 926 737

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Exchange gains                      395                     303 

Penal interest on untimely payments                      442                     440 

Release provision for pending purchase orders                      582 

Damages received                        49                       95 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment                        57                       57 

Other /*                   2 166                  8 244 

3 691 9 139
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11.2. Other operating expenses 

 

 

 

11.3. Financial revenue  

 

 
 

Other financial revenue in the amount of PLN 3,363 relates to the derecognition of the contingent liability  

to pay additional compensation for S4E shares (Note 29.3). 

 

11.4. Financial expenses  

 

 
 

/* “Other financial expenses” include an impairment loss on shares in BiznesLinkCO . 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Echange losses                    (668)                (1 122)

Result on sale of receivables                         -                    (162)

Premiums                    (263)                   (276)

Provision for pending purchase orders                    (418)                   (142)

Donations                      (23)                       (2)

Transaction costs on acquisition of a subsidiary                         -                    (704)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible asstes                      (49)                     (45)

Other                 (1 364)                (1 318)

(2 785)              (3 771)              

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Bank interest income                      114                     136 

Other                   3 363                         -  

3 477 136

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Interest and fees on bank credit facilities                 (3 488)                (3 651)

Interest and fees on other liabilities                 (6 431)                (5 655)

Other financial expenses /*                         -                 (6 402)

(9 919)              (15 708)           
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11.5. Expenses by type 

 

11.6. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses recognized in profit or loss 

 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Amortization/depreciation                 (5 267)                (2 610)

Consumption of materials and energy                 (8 991)                (9 641)

Costs of lease and operations               (12 490)              (12 149)

Costs of transport               (28 452)              (27 281)

Other external services               (50 781)              (58 302)

Taxes and charges                 (2 767)                (2 736)

Employee benefits             (104 807)            (103 945)

Other expenses by type               (18 172)              (11 759)

Total costs by type, including: (231 727)          (228 423)         

Items charged to selling expenses             (186 357)            (190 656)

Items charged to general and administrative expenses               (45 370)              (37 767)

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Items charged to cost of sales:

Depreciation of fixed assets                    (601)                       (3)

Items charged to selling expenses:

Depreciation of fixed assets                 (2 930)                (1 512)

Amortization of intangible assets                 (1 606)                   (757)

tems charged to general and administrative expenses:

Depreciation of fixed assets                    (512)                   (293)

Amortization of intangible assets                    (219)                     (48)

Total amortization/depreciation, including: (5 868)              (2 613)              

Depreciation of fixed assets                 (4 043)                (1 808)

Amortization of intangible assets                 (1 825)                   (805)
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Employee benefit expenses 

 

12. Income tax 

Tax returns  

 

Tax returns and other regulated (such as customs or foreign exchange) issues may be audited by administrative 

authorities, which are authorized to impose considerable penalties and sanctions. A lack of reference to established 

legal regulations in Poland results in the applicable laws being inconsistent and ambiguous. Frequent differences 

in opinion as to the interpretation of tax provisions, both within state authorities and between state authorities and 

entrepreneurs, lead to uncertainties and conflicts. Therefore, the tax risk in Poland is much higher than in countries 

with a more developed tax system.  

Tax returns may be audited within five years of the end of the year in which the tax was paid. Consequently, 

additional tax liabilities may be assessed for the Company. 

12.1. Tax expense  

 

Key items of the tax expense for the financial years closed on 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016: 

 

12.2. Effective tax rate  

 

Reconciliation of the income tax on profit (loss) before tax at the statutory tax rate with the income tax calculated 

using the effective tax rate of the Group for the financial years closed on 31 December 2017 and 31 December 

2016: 

 

 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Payroll               (89 599)              (90 125)

Costs of social insurance               (12 441)              (10 217)

Costs of retirement benefits                        54                   (334)

Costs of share-based payments                      (12)                   (345)

Appropriation to the Company’s Social Benefits Fund                    (528)                   (484)

Other employee benefit costs                 (2 281)                (2 440)

Total costs of employee benefits, including: (104 807)          (103 945)         

Items charged to selling expenses               (80 710)              (80 121)

Items charged to general and administrative expenses               (24 097)              (23 824)

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Current income tax                 (7 396)                (7 932)

Related to recognition and reversal of temporary differences               (13 551)                  2 913 

Income tax recognized in net profit for the current period             (20 947)               (5 019)
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/* The adjustment of deferred tax for previous years relates in particular to the write down of an asset in the 

amount of PLN 8,956 recognised in 2011 while making contribution-in-kind of trademarks to increase the share 

capital of a subsidiary. 

 

 

12.3. Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax arises from the following items: 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Gross profit/(loss) before tax                 46 359                22 233 

Tax at the statutory tax rate in Poland, 19% (2016: 19%)                 (8 808)                (4 224)

Non tax-deductible expenses                 (1 992)                (1 171)

Revenue not classified as taxable income                      647                       22 

Difference arising from application of tax rates adopted in other countries                      562                       43 

Adjustment of current tax from previous years                    (248)                     (25)

Adjustment of deferred tax from previous years/*                 (9 591)                         -  

Recognition of tax losses and other temporary differences                 (1 518)                     337 

Tax at the effective tax rate of 45.2%  (2016: 22.6% ) (20 947)            (5 019)              

Income tax (expense) charged to profit or loss (20 947)              (5 019)               
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13. Profit per share 

Basic profit per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the 

Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and outstanding during the period, adjusted by 

treasury shares held by the Group. 

  

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Property, plant and equipment                      129                       34 

Intangible assets                   4 552                  4 176 

Trade and other receivables                      419                       11 

Cash                          7                         3 

Other financial liabilities                   2 238                         6 

Trade and other liabilities                         -                      282 

Provisions                          2                     934 

Deferred tax liability 7 347                5 446               

Property, plant and equipment                         -                        18 

Intangible assets (including trademark of ABC Data)                          3                11 246 

Inventories                   2 296                  2 562 

Trade and other receivables                   3 642                  1 989 

Cash and short-term investments                          3                         2 

Liabilities due to employee benefits                   2 187                  1 772 

Other financial liabilities                      101                     193 

Trade and other liabilities                   5 335                  7 518 

Provisions                   1 958                  2 164 

Losses deductible from future taxable income                      473                     942 

Deferred tax assets 15 998             28 406             

Net deferred tax asset including: 8 651                22 960             

Deferred tax asset on continuing operations 8 651                                22 960 

Balance sheet change (14 309)            788                  

Exchange differences on translation                      (56)                       42 

Deferred tax assets of the acquired subsidiary                         -                      678 

Provision for deferred tax on identified assets of acquired entity                         -                 (3 110)

Deferred tax recognized in other comprehensive income                    (702)                     265 

Deferred tax recognized in profit or loss  (13 551)            2 913               

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Diluted profit per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to equity holders by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and outstanding during the period, adjusted by treasury shares 

held by the Group and by the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would have been issued on 

conversion of all dilutive potential equity instruments into ordinary shares. Information concerning the profit and 

shares used for purposes of calculating basic and diluted profit per share is presented below: 

 

 

 

The Company offers incentive schemes for members of its Management Board and Supervisory Board, whereby 

the participants may receive share options (Note 21.1). 

14. Dividends paid and proposed to be paid 
On 28 June 2017, the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, by way of a resolution on the distribution 

of profit for the year 2016, resolved to retain the entire profit within the Company. 

On 8 December 2017, the Group paid out an advance towards the expected dividend for 2017 in the amount of 

PLN 9,808 thousand (PLN 0.08 per share). 

The dividend from ordinary shares for 2015 was paid on 11 July 2016 and amounted to PLN 47,812 thousand. 

  

The Management Board of the Group is planning to allocate the net profit for 2017 to dividend payment to the 

shareholders in line with the dividend policy of the Company.  

  

in thousand PLN

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Net profit                 25 412                17 214 

Net earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders used to calculate diluted 

earnings per share
25 412             17 214             

in thousand 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate basic 

earnings per share
              122 595              122 595 

Dilution effect

Subscription warrants included in the incentive scheme                         -                          -  

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate 

diluted earnings per share
122 595           122 595          
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15. Property, plant and equipment 

 

 

 

 

 

Year ended 31.12.2017

Buildings 

and 

structures

Maschines 

and 

equipment

Vehicles
Other fixed 

assets

Fixed assets 

under 

construction

Total

Gross value as at 1 January 2017 430             16 255        3 455          5 117          142                    25 399        

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                -                -                -                -                       -                

Other acquisitions including financial lease 299             3 470          91               109             2 926                 6 895          

Sale and liquidation (127)            (1 429)         (420)            (78)              -                       (2 054)         

Reclassification from fixed assets under 

construction
-                1 636          373             681             (2 690)                -                

Other changes 50               895             -                (156)            -                       789             

Effects of forex rate changes (1)                (12)              (18)              (15)              -                       (46)              

Gross value as at 31 December 2017 651             20 815        3 481          5 658          378                    30 983        

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January  2017 (140)            (10 044)       (1 619)         (3 367)         -                       (15 170)       

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                -                -                -                -                       -                

Depreciation for the period (73)              (2 879)         (581)            (510)            -                       (4 043)         

Sales /disposal 111             1 420          288             61               -                       1 880          

Other changes (50)              (807)            -                68               -                       (789)            

Effects of forex rate changes 5                 8                 15               7                 -                       35               

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 

December 2017 (147)            (12 302)       (1 897)         (3 741)         -                       (18 087)       

Net value as at 1 January 2017 290             6 211          1 836          1 750          142                    10 229        

Net value as at 31 December 2017 504             8 513          1 584          1 917          378                    12 896        

Year ended 31.12.2016

Buildings 

and 

structures

Maschines 

and 

equipment

Vehicles
Other fixed 

assets

Fixed assets 

under 

construction

Total

Gross value as at 1 January 2016 77               10 570        1 934          4 476          26                      17 083        

Acquisition of a subsidiary 349             4 117          1 392          109             -                       5 967          

Other acquisitions including financial lease -                367             -                42               3 856                 4 265          

Sale and liquidation -                (1 689)         (210)            (49)              (8)                       (1 956)         

Reclassification from fixed assets under 

construction -                2 874          331             527             (3 732)                -                

Other changes -                -                -                -                -                       -                

Effects of forex rate changes 4                 16               8                 12               -                       40               

Gross value as at 31 December 2016 430             16 255        3 455          5 117          142                    25 399        

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January  2016 (53)              (8 251)         (1 138)         (2 882)         -                       (12 324)       

Acquisition of a subsidiary (62)              (2 419)         (364)            (63)              -                       (2 908)         

Depreciation for the period (22)              (1 040)         (290)            (456)            -                       (1 808)         

Sales /disposal -                1 674          177             39               -                       1 890          

Other changes -                -                -                -                -                       -                

Effects of forex rate changes (3)                (8)                (4)                (5)                -                       (20)              

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 

December 2016 (140)            (10 044)       (1 619)         (3 367)         -                       (15 170)       

Net value as at 1 January 2016 24               2 319          796             1 594          26                      4 759          

Net value as at 31 December 2016 290             6 211          1 836          1 750          142                    10 229        
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As at 31 December 2017, fixed assets under a finance lease agreement amounted to PLN 1,697 thousand (versus 

PLN 1,035 thousand as at 31 December 2016). 

 

16. Lease 

16.1. Operating lease liabilities − the Group as a lessee 

The Group leases office and warehouse buildings located at ul. Daniszewska and a warehouse building in 

Sosnowiec. As at the date of these financial statements, payment of the related lease liabilities had been secured 

by bank guarantees issued by ING Bank Śląski S.A. in the total amount of EUR 816 thousand. The said guarantees 

will expire on 30 June 2018 and 19 September 2018, respectively. 

  Additionally, the Group leases an office at ul. Lindego in Kraków and at ul. Bokserska in Warsaw (payment of 

the liabilities has been secured with deposits made to lessors amounting in total to PLN 165 thousand. 

It also leases office spaces in Czechia, Hungary and Romania (payment of the liabilities has been secured with 

deposits of EUR 30 thousand, EUR 14 thousand and RON 93 thousand, respectively).   

 

Furthermore, the Group uses 71 passenger cars under operating lease agreements. 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating and finance lease agreements as at 31 December 

2017 and 31 December 2016: 

 

16.2. Finance lease liabilities 

 

Future minimum lease payments under the agreements and current net amount of minimum lease as at 31 

December 2017 and 31 December 2016: 

 

  

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Up to 1 year 10 039               10 518              

From 1 to 5 years 30 342               31 454              

Above 5 years -                       2 960                

40 381             41 972             

Minimum fees

Present value 

of fees Minimum fees

Present value 

of fees

Up to 1 year 531                    499                    354                    331                    

From 1 to 5 years 592                    557                    516                    505                    

Total minimum lease fees 1 123                 1 056                 870                    836                    

Less financial expenses 67                      -                       34                      -                       

Present value of minimum lease fees, of which: 1 056                 -                       836                    -                       

Short-term -                       499                    -                       331                    

Long-term -                       557                    -                       505                    

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
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17. Intangible assets 

 

 

 
  

Year ended 31.12.2017 Goodwill

Concessions, 

licenses, computer 

software and other Trademarks

Development 

works Total

Gross value as at 1 January 2017 46 420          34 551                     20                   1 212              82 203          

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                  -                    -                    -                  

Other acquisitions -                  3 227                       -                    2 329              5 556            

Sales /disposal -                  (627)                         (5)                    -                    (632)              

Transfer of development works -                  1 078                       -                    (1 078)             -                  

Other adjustments (including change in presentation) 190               835                          (5)                    (25)                  995               

Effects of forex rate changes (52)                1                              -                    -                    (51)                

Gross value as at 31 December 2017 46 558         34 551                   10                   2 438             88 071         

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January  2017 -                  (9 239)                      2                     -                    (9 237)           

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                  -                             -                    -                    -                  

Depreciation for the period -                  (1 824)                      (1)                    -                    (1 825)           

Sales /disposal -                  584                          -                    -                    584               

Other adjustments (including change in presentation) -                  (803)                         (2)                    -                    (805)              

Effects of forex rate changes -                  (1)                             -                    -                    (1)                  

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2017 -                  (11 283)                    (1)                    -                    (11 284)         

Impairment as at 1 January 2017 (614)              -                             -                    -                    (614)              

Other adjustments (including change in presentation) (190)              -                             -                    -                    (190)              

Write-off for the period -                  -                             -                    -                    -                  

Impairment as at 31 December 2017 (804)              -                             -                    -                    (804)              

Net value as at 1 January 2017 45 806          25 312                     22                   1 212              72 352          

Net value as at 31 December 2017 45 754          23 268                     9                     2 438              75 983          

Year ended 31.12.2016 Goodwill

Concessions, 

licenses, computer 

software and other Trademarks

Development 

works Total

Gross value as at 1 January 2016 41 421          13 284                     5                     -                    54 710          

Acquisition of a subsidiary 4 380            18 385                     14                   -                    22 779          

Other acquisitions -                  2 876                       3                     1 212              4 091            

Sales /disposal -                  -                             (2)                    -                    (2)                  

Transfer of development works -                  -                             -                    -                    -                  

Effects of forex rate changes 619               6                              -                    -                    625               

Gross value as at 31 December 2016 46 420          34 551                     20                   1 212              82 203          

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2016 -                  (7 890)                      (1)                    -                    (7 891)           

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                  (536)                         -                    -                    (536)              

Depreciation for the period -                  (807)                         2                     -                    (805)              

Sales /disposal -                  -                             1                     -                    1                   

Effects of forex rate changes -                  (6)                             -                    -                    (6)                  

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2016 -                  (9 239)                      2                     -                    (9 237)           

Impairment as at 1 January 2016 (614)              -                             -                    -                    (614)              

Write-off for the period -                  -                             -                    -                    -                  

Impairment as at 31 December 2016 (614)              -                             -                    -                    (614)              

Net value as at 1 January 2016 40 807          5 394                       4                     -                    46 205          

Net value as at 31 December 2016 45 806          25 312                     22                   1 212              72 352          
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The Group tested goodwill arising from the acquisition of ABC Data Sp. z o.o., ABC Data s.r.o. (Czechia) and 

S4E S.A. for impairment to determine the recoverable amount in accordance with the accounting principle 

presented in Note 9.4.1. 

  

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of ABC Data Sp. z o.o. 

The Company tested goodwill for impairment to determine the recoverable amount in accordance with the 

accounting principle presented in Note 10.3. For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from the 

acquisition of ABC Data sp. z o.o. was assigned to a cash generating unit defined as ABC Data S.A. 

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was established based on an estimate of its value in use, in 

accordance with the DCF method. Cash flows were estimated based on EBITDA forecasts and changes in the 

working capital, including development and replacement investments planned for the years 2018-2021, prepared 

by the Management Board of the Company as at 31 December 2017. The key assumption made for the said 

forecasts is an increase in sales by 8% in 2018, followed by an annual increase by 3% on average in the following 

years of the forecast period. The gross margin for management purposes will drop in 2018 by 0.1 pp as compared 

to 2017 and will remain at an unchanged level in the upcoming years.  

Cash flows beyond the four-year period were extrapolated assuming an annual increase by 1%. The projected cash 

flows were discounted at a pre-tax rate of 9.0%. The discount rate was determined assuming that the cost of equity 

is 10.4% and the cost of borrowed capital is 4.8%. 

The test did not indicate any impairment. According to the Management Board of the Company, no reasonable 

and probable changes in the key assumptions will result in the carrying amount of goodwill exceeding its 

recoverable amount. In particular, the sensitivity of a forecast, estimating a lower than assumed level of sales 

(maintaining sales at the level of that achieved in 2017 in all forecast years) was analysed. The results of the 

analysis showed no impairment, as well. 

 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of ABC Data s.r.o (Czechia)  

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from the acquisition of ABC Data s.r.o (Czechia) was 

assigned to a cash generating unit defined as the Czech IT market. 

The recoverable amount of the cash generating units was established based on an estimate of their value in use, in 

accordance with the DCF method. Cash flows were estimated based on EBITDA forecasts and changes in the 

working capital, including replacement investments planned for the years 2018-2021, prepared by the Management 

Board of the Company as at 31 December 2017.  

The key assumption made for the said forecasts is an increase in sales by 13% in 2018, followed by an annual 

increase by 2% on average in the following years of the forecast period. The gross margin for management 

purposes will increase in 2018 by 0.3 pp as compared to 2017 and will remain at an unchanged level in the 

upcoming years.  

Cash flows beyond the four-year period were extrapolated assuming an annual increase by 1.5%. The projected 

cash flows were discounted at a pre-tax rate of 9.0%. The discount rate was determined assuming that the cost of 

equity is 10.4% and the cost of borrowed capital is 4.8%.  

The tests did not indicate any impairment. According to the Management Board of the Parent, no reasonable and 

probable changes in the key assumptions will result in the carrying amount of goodwill exceeding its recoverable 

amount. 
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Goodwill arising from the acquisition of S4A S.A. 

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from the acquisition of S4E S.A. was assigned to a cash 

generating unit defined as S4E S.A. 

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was established based on an estimate of its value in use, in 

accordance with the DCF method. Cash flows were estimated based on EBITDA forecasts and changes in the 

working capital, including replacement investments planned for the years 2018-2022, prepared by the Management 

Board of S4E as at 31 December 2017. The key assumption made for the said forecasts is an increase in sales by 

23% in 2018, followed by an annual increase by 6% on average in the following years of the forecast period. The 

gross margin calculated for management purposes will increase in 2018 by 0.5 pp in relation to 2017, and then it 

will gradually decrease to reach a value lower by 0.5 pp than in 2017 at the end of the detailed forecast period.  

Cash flows beyond the four-year period were extrapolated assuming an annual increase by 1.5%. The projected 

cash flows were discounted at a pre-tax rate of 9.0%. The discount rate was determined assuming that the cost of 

equity is 10.4% and the cost of borrowed capital is 4.8%.  

The test did not indicate any impairment. According to the Management Board of the Company, no reasonable 

and probable changes in the key assumptions will result in the carrying amount of goodwill exceeding its 

recoverable amount. 

Commercial contracts of S4E S.A. 

As a result of allocation of the acquisition price of S4E S.A. in 2016, the Group recognized assets in the form of 

commercial contracts at fair value of PLN 16,371 thousand. They were classified as intangible assets with an 

indefinite useful life. 

They were tested by the Group for impairment as at the balance sheet date. The test did not indicate any 

impairment. 

Commercial contracts of iSource 

As a result of allocation of the acquisition price of iSource S.A. in 2014, the Group recognized assets in the form 

of commercial contracts at fair value of PLN 2,692 thousand. They were classified as intangible assets with an 

indefinite useful life. 

They were tested by the Group for impairment as at the balance sheet date. The test did not indicate any 

impairment. 

18. Business combinations  

Goodwill 

The carrying amount of goodwill arose from the acquisition of the following entities: 

 

 
  

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

ABC Data Sp. z o.o.                     24 517                      24 517 

ABC Data s.r.o. - CZ                     16 832                      16 884 

ABC Data Marketing Sp. z o.o.                            25                             25 

S4E S.A.                       4 380                        4 380 

45 754 45 806
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Changes in goodwill in the financial years closed on 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016: 

 

 

Goodwill arising from mergers and acquisitions was tested for impairment as at the balance sheet date (Note 18). 

 

19. Other assets, including financial assets measured at fair value through 

profit or loss 

 

 

 

The Group enters into swap and forward transactions regarding purchases and sales of foreign currencies.  

As at 31 December 2017, the Group held contracts for net currency purchase amounting to USD 12,327 thousand 

and EUR 300 thousand, as well as for net currency sale amounting to CZK 157,000 thousand, HUF 2,726,559 

thousand and RON 38,836 thousand with the term from 3 January to 27 March 2018.  

As a result of valuation of the above contracts, as at 31 December 2017, the Group recognised financial assets 

worth PLN 786 thousand (as at 31 December 2016 financial liabilities amounted to PLN 97 thousand). 

20. Employee benefits 

20.1. Employee stock ownership plans 

 

Incentive scheme for 2015  

 

Under the incentive scheme for 2015, the beneficiaries were entitled to receive no more than 900,000 options in 

total. One option entitled to one share for a specific price. Options could be exercised no later than on 31 October 

2017. No beneficiary exercised their option.  

The total cost of the incentive scheme amounted to PLN 75 thousand, of which PLN 6 thousand was allocated to 

the financial result for 2017 (PLN 45 thousand for 2016, respectively).  

 

Incentive schemes for 2016  

 

Under the scheme for the year 2016 designed for the members of the Management Board of the Parent, the 

beneficiaries may receive no more than 641,000 options in total, and under the scheme designed for the members 

of the Supervisory Board - no more than 245,000 options in total. One option entitled to one share for a specific 

price. Due to a failure to comply with arm’s length terms, the options cannot be offered to the beneficiaries. 

2017 2016

Opening balance of goodwill                 45 806                40 807 

Acquisition of a subsidiary S4E S.A.                         -                   4 380 

Exchange differences regarding foreign operations                      (52)                     619 

Total carrying amount closing balance 45 754 45 806

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

FX contracts 786                    -                      

Other -                       5                       

786                   5                       
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The total cost of the scheme designed for the members of the Management Board of the Company was estimated 

at PLN 23 thousand, of which PLN 6 thousand was allocated to the financial result for 2017 (PLN 16 thousand for 

2016, respectively).The scheme designed for the members of Supervisory Board generated no costs. 

 

20.2. Retirement and other post-employment benefits 

The Group companies pay out to eligible employees retirement severance pays in such amounts as required by the 

Labor Code. Therefore, the Group recognizes a provision for the present value of liabilities due to retirement 

severance pays. The provision amount is estimated based on a model with the input data including the headcount, 

its age and gender structure, years in service and the average monthly salary in the Group. 

The amount of the provision and changes in its balance during the financial year have been presented in the table 

below:  

 

21. Inventories 

 

 

None of the inventory categories were pledged as collateral securing the repayment of credit facilities or loans in 

the financial years closed on 31 December 2017 or 31 December 2016. 

 

Impairment losses on inventories and their changes in 2017 and 2016 have been presented in the table below. 

 

 

 

Changes in impairment losses on inventories are recognized within the “Cost of sales”.  

In the financial year closed on 31 December 2017, the Group reduced the impairment loss on inventories by PLN 

1,506 thousand, and the cost of sales was reduced by PLN 1,487 thousand (as compared to the impairment cost 

reduction by PLN 105 thousand and the cost of sales reduction by 722 thousand, respectively, as at 31 December 

2016).  

  

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

As at 1 January 651 446

Increase of the provision -                       205

Derecognition of the provision                      (54) -                      

As at 31 December 597 651

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Materials 4                        1                       

Goods 397 443             421 994            

Total inventories 397 447           421 995          

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Impairment as at 1 January 13 866               13 971              

Increases (decreases) recognized in cost of sales (1 487)                (722)                  

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                       613                   

Exchange rate differences from conversion (19)                     4                       

Impairment as at 31 December 12 360             13 866             
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22. Trade and other receivables 

 

 

 

The terms of related-party transactions have been presented in Note 31. 

Trade receivables bear no interest and usually have a 37-day maturity period. 

The Group has a policy in place whereby sales transactions are made only with verified clients. According to the 

management, there is no credit risk other than that reflected in impairment losses on bad debts related to the 

Group’s trade receivables. 

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of PLN 33,157 thousand were classified as bad debt and an impairment 

loss was recognized (of PLN 27,911 as at 31 December 2016).  

Changes in impairment losses on receivables: 

 

 

 

Below, the Group presents an analysis of trade receivables which were past due as at 31 December 2017 and 31 

December 2016 but not classified as bad debt, hence no impairment losses were recognized in their respect. 

 

 
 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

(restated)

Security deposits for counterparts 577                    165                   

Prepayments 2 273                 2 206                

Total other long term receivables 2 850                2 371               

Trade receivables 676 144             609 338            

Prepayments 15 020               14 150              

VAT receivables -                       528                   

Other receivables 4 738                 577                   

Total net receivables: 695 902           624 593          

Impairment loss on receivables 33 157               27 911              

Gross receivables 729 059           654 875          

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Allowance as at 1 January 27 911               25 817              

Acquisition of a subsidiary -                       2 899                

Increase 5 526                 813                   

Applied (179)                   (2 290)               

Effects of forex rate changes (101)                   672                   

Allowance as at 31 December 33 157             27 911             

Total Current < 30 days 30 - 60 days 60 - 90 days 90 - 120 days > 120 days

31.12.2017 676 144        569 148                           52 578          10 779          10 288          7 751            25 600          

31.12.2016 609 338        522 586                           54 579          10 485          16 148          (2 015)           7 555            

Past due, but collectible
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23. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash at bank bears floating-rate interest, which depends on the interest rate for O/N bank deposits. Short-term 

deposits may mature from one day to one month, depending on the Group’s current demand for cash, and they 

bear interest at specified rates. As at 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents amounted to PLN 43,012 

thousand (versus PLN 90,951 thousand as at 31 December 2016). 

The balance of cash and cash equivalents recognized in the consolidated cash flow statement consists of: 

 

 

24. Share capital, supplementary capital and reserve capitals 

24.1. Share capital 

 

 

 

 

There were no changes in the share capital during the 2017 or 2016 financial year.  

 

24.1.1. Par value of shares 

The par value of each issued share is PLN 1, and the shares have been fully paid up for.  

24.1.2. Shareholders’ rights 

One voting right is attached to each share. The shares of any series have the same preference as to dividends and 

return on equity. 

24.1.3. Major shareholders 

 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Cash at bank and in hand                 42 581                89 508 

Short term deposit                      431                         -  

Other cash                         -                   1 443 

              43 012              90 951 

Share capital in PLN 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Ordinary shares A series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 500 000             500 000            

Ordinary shares B series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 54 972 000        54 972 000       

Ordinary shares C series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 44 000 000        44 000 000       

Ordinary shares D series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 2 878 869          2 878 869         

Ordinary shares E series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 291 584             291 584            

Ordinary shares F series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 304 625             304 625            

Ordinary shares G series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 304 625             304 625            

Ordinary shares H series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 22 000 000        22 000 000       

Ordinary shares I series/nominal value of 1 PLN each 15 196               15 196              

125 266 899   125 266 899  
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25. Supplementary capital 

The supplementary capital of the Company includes the share premium and appropriations of profit generated in 

the preceding years. 

The share premium of PLN 39,825 thousand, recognized as a separate item on the balance sheet, is the total of the 

share premiums on C, D, E, F, G, H and I series shares, less issue costs. Moreover, the item includes the surplus 

of the fair value over the cost of treasury shares issued in exchange for the acquired shares in iSource S.A., 

recognized by the Company in 2014. 

Its value changed neither in 2017 nor 2016.  

 

The supplementary capital created from appropriations of profit is recognized within “Retained profits” on the 

balance sheet. 

 

25.1. Treasury shares 

The Company holds 2,672,349 treasury shares bought back in 2014-2015 pursuant to a resolution of the GMS 

adopted on 23 June 2014. In 2016-2017, no change in the number and status of held treasury shares occurred. 

 

On 28 June 2017, the GMS adopted a resolution on authorising the Management Board of the Company to 

repurchase treasury shares, for the purpose of subsequent resale or redemption thereof, and to create a reserve for 

the buyback. Since the publication date hereof, the Company has not started the buyback of shares. 

 

25.2. Other reserve capitals 

 
  

No of shares % of votes held No of shares % of votes held

MCI Venture Projects sp. z o.o. VI S.K.A. 76 060 378        60.72% 76 060 378            60.72%

OFE PZU "Złota Jesień" 9 650 000          7.70% 11 624 678            9.28%

Other shareholders 39 556 521        31.58% 37 581 843            30.00%

Total 125 266 899 100% 125 266 899 100%

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Other reserve 

capital

As at 1 January 2017 (1 070)               

Share-based payments 12                     

Cash flow hedges 3 000                

Reclassification to the result (350)                  

As at 31 December 2017 1 592               

As at 1 January 2016 -                      

Share-based payments 61                     

Cash flow hedges (1 131)               

As at 31 December 2016 (1 070)             
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25.3. Undistributed profit/uncovered loss and dividend limitations 

The undistributed profit includes also non-distributable amounts that cannot be used for dividend payment. This 

concerns profit generated by subsidiaries. 

The statutory financial statements of ABC Data S.A. are prepared in accordance with International Accounting 

Standards. Dividends may be paid based on the financial result reported in the separate annual financial statements 

prepared for statutory purposes. 

In accordance with the Code of Commercial Companies, the Parent has the obligation to create a supplementary 

capital to cover losses. This capital receives at least 8% of the profit for a given financial year, as reported in the 

separate financial statements of the Company, until it reaches at least one third of the share capital of the Parent. 

The use of the supplementary capital and the reserve capital is decided upon by the General Meeting of 

Shareholders. However, a part of the supplementary capital representing one third of the share capital may be used 

only to cover a loss reported in the separate financial statements of the Parent and cannot be allocated to other 

purposes. 

Under Article 347.4 of the Code of Commercial Companies, where development work is classified as assets,  

the Company may not distribute any profit being the equivalent of the cost of development work which has not 

been written down unless the sum of the supplementary and reserve capitals available for distribution and retained 

profit is at least equal to the amount of such costs. In the case of the Parent, the cost of development work which 

has not been written down is lower than the amount of distributable capitals. Thus, there is no limitation on 

dividend payment in this regard. 

 

As at 31 December 2017, there were no other limitations on dividend payment. 

 

25.4. Non-controlling interest 

The Group holds 100% of shares in all its subsidiaries, except for S4E S.A., in which it holds 81.3% of shares 

acquired in 2016. The non-controlling interest is measured by the Group using the percentage share in the net 

assets method. 
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26. Interest-bearing bank loans and credit facilities 

 

 

Bank loans are collateralized with the Group’s statement of submission to enforcement under Article 97.1 and 97.2 

of the Banking Act together with an authorization for banks to issue a bank enforcement title, or a statement of 

submission to enforcement filed in the form of a notarial deed under Article 777.1(5) of the Code of Civil 

Procedure, or a blank promissory note with promissory note agreement. One of the loans is additionally 

collateralized with an assignment of debt from a certain group of contracting parties. One of the loans is also 

collateralized with an assignment of receivables due to a factoring agreement. 

Interest liabilities are usually settled monthly over the entire financial year. 

 

27. Provisions 

27.1. Change in provisions 

 

 in thousand PLN Currency Interest Maturity date 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Overdraft facility - Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A. PLN Wibor 1M+margin 15.12.2018 18 244 4 433

Overdraft facility - Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A. EUR Euribor 1M+margin 15.12.2018 656 414

Overdraft facility - Bank Polska Kasa Opieki S.A. USD Libor 1M+margin 15.12.2018                  -  638

Overdraft facility - Bank Millennium S.A. PLN Wibor 1M+margin 28.04.2018 16 154 12 553

Overdraft facility - Bank Millennium S.A. EUR Euribor 1M+margin 28.04.2018 1 054 1 899

Overdraft facility - Bank Millennium S.A. USD Libor 1M+margin 28.04.2018 42 1 318

Overdraft facility - Bank ING Bank Śląski S.A. EUR Euribor 1M+margin 09.10.2025         21 377 12 912

Overdraft facility - Bank ING Bank Śląski S.A. USD Libor 1M+margin 09.10.2025                  -  9 764

Overdraft facility - Bank ING Bank Śląski S.A. CZK Pribor 1M+margin 09.10.2025 49                -  

Overdraft facility - Bank Societe Generale PLN Wibor 1M+margin n/d                  -  42 252

Overdraft facility -Bank Societe Generale EUR Euribor 1M+margin n/d                  -             455 

Overdraft facility -Bank Societe Generale USD Libor 1M+margin n/d                  -          9 309 

Overdraft facility -Bank Societe Generale HUF Bubor 1M+margin n/d                  -          3 322 

Overdraft facility -BGŻ BNP Paribas PLN Wibor 1M+margin 01.12.2025 6 730         6 583 

Overdraft facility -BGŻ BNP Paribas EUR Euribor 1M+margin 01.12.2025 11 237       14 426 

Overdraft facility -BGŻ BNP Paribas USD Libor 1M+margin 01.12.2025  -         1 682 

Overdraft facility - Bank Handlowy w Warszawie S.A. PLN Wibor 1M+margin n/d                  -        16 027 

Trade credit - Bank Handlowy w Warszawie S.A. PLN Wibor 1M+margin n/d                  -        10 962 

Overdraft facility - mBank S.A.
PLN

Wibor overnight 

+margin
13.07.2018 42 165                -  

Overdraft facility - mBank S.A.
EUR

Euribor overnight 

+margin
13.07.2018 209                -  

Revolving facility - mBank S.A. PLN Wibor 1M+margin 29.06.2018 5 000                -  

Ocerdraft facility - Bank Handlowy w Warszawie S.A. PLN Wibor 3M+margin 31.12.2018 9767                -  

Total       132 684     148 949 
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27.2. Provision for warranty repairs and returns 

The Group recognizes a provision for costs of complaints related to warranties and guarantees given for the goods 

sold. The provision is estimated based on the sales volume, duration of warranty periods, historical data regarding 

faulty goods and the associated losses as well as current operating costs of the service department. According to 

the estimations of the Group, the provision of PLN 2,267 thousand is going to be used up in 2018, while 

the remaining part will be used up in 2019. 

27.3. Onerous contracts  

The Group recognizes a provision related to goods purchase orders pending at the balance sheet date, which will 

be fulfilled by suppliers at prices higher than the realizable net selling price. The Group estimates the volume of 

the provision based on a detailed analysis of goods sales price trends after the balance sheet date. Both the creation 

and termination of the provision are recognized under other operating expenses. The Group expects that the total 

provision will be used up in 2018. 

  

Guarantee 

costs

Onerous 

contracts
Other provisions  Total 

Amount as at 1 January 2017 2 832 522                             -                    3 354 

Recognized                        82                         -                              -                         82 

Derecognized                      (85)                    (104)                             -                     (189)

Exchange differences on translation                      (34)                         -                              -                       (34)

Amount as at 31 December 2017 2 795 418                             -  3 213

Long-term portion                      528                          -                             -                       528 

Short-term portion 2 267 418                             -                    2 685 

Guarantee 

costs

Onerous 

contracts
Other provisions  Total 

Amount as at 1 January 2016 4 063 380                          142                   4 585 

Recognized                        86                      142                             -                       228 

Derecognized                 (1 336)                         -                         (146)                 (1 482)

Exchange differences on translation                        19                         -                               4                        23 

Amount as at 31 December 2016 2 832 522                             -  3 354

Long-term portion                      535                          -                             -                       535 

Short-term portion 2 297 522                             -                    2 819 
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28. Trade and other liabilities  

28.1. Trade and other liabilities  

 

 

The terms of related-party transactions have been presented in Note 31. 

Trade liabilities bear no interest, and they are usually settled within ca. 35 days. 

The difference between VAT liabilities and receivables is paid to the relevant tax authorities on a monthly basis. 

28.2. Liabilities due to employee benefits 

 

 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

(restated)

Discounts on rental agreements 8 749                 11 075               

Deferred revenues 1 434                 1 000                 

Total other long-term liabilities 10 183             12 075             

Trade liabilities 715 336             710 143             

Liabilities due to VAT, customs duties and 

other benefits payable 35 082               37 296               

Accrued expenses 29 507               37 510               

Other liabilities including deferred income 5 870                 6 188                 

Total short-term liabilities 785 795           791 137           

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Payroll liabilities 338                    464                    

Accrued bonuses 9 154                 7 841                 

Liabilities due to unused vacation 3 172                 2 388                 

Personal income tax 914                    1 030                 

Social insurance liabilities 1 468                 1 719                 

Company’s Social Benefit Fund -                       295                    

Other 28                      133                    

15 074             13 870             
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28.3. Other financial liabilities   

 

/* In 2016, under “Other financial liabilities”, the Group recognised at fair value a liability due to conditional 

payment for share in S4E amounting to PLN 3,359 thousand. Due to the fact that its terms have not been satisfied, 

the liability was derecognized on the balance sheet for 2017 and recognized in other financial revenue.   

 

29. Contingent liabilities 

29.1. Contingent liabilities for reprographic fees  

Pursuant to the Act on Copyright and the Related Rights of 4 February 1994, the Group, as an importer of copiers, 

scanners and other similar reprographic equipment enabling the copying of published works, as well as blank data 

carriers enabling the recording of works for personal use, pays fees to organizations dealing with collective 

management of copyrights or the related rights. Following an inspection carried out by an auditor appointed by 

these organizations, the latter have claimed significant additional amounts from the Parent. According to 

the Company, the auditor’s calculations include a number of errors, and the claims based thereon are groundless.  

Currently, a dispute of the Company with three of the organizations is pending. Due to doubts regarding 

the interpretation of legal regulations and discrepancies in previous court decisions, the Company has recognized 

a provision for the amount which, in its opinion, covers the risk related to the possibility of an unfavourable ruling. 

 Currently, the actions for payment of PLN 27,068 thousand allegedly due for the Company's sale of equipment 

and blank data carriers are pending filed by the organizations dealing with collective management of copyrights. 

According to the Company and a third-party legal adviser, the calculation methodology used in the suit contains a 

number of errors, and the claims based thereon are groundless. 

 

29.2. Tax returns  

Corporate income tax for the fiscal year 2010 

In 2011, inspection proceedings were instituted by the Director of the Tax Inspection Office in Warsaw against 

the Company with respect to corporate income tax for 2010. The proceedings were terminated by a decision issued 

on 5 June 2014, which determined the Company's corporate income tax liability for 2010. Despite the Company's 

appeal, the aforesaid decision was upheld by the Director of the Tax Chamber in Warsaw. The Company filed 

an appeal with the Regional Administrative Court in Warsaw opposing the decision of the Director of the Tax 

Chamber in Warsaw in its entirety.  

In its non-final judgement of 19 April 2016, the Regional Administrative Court in Warsaw repealed the decision 

that the Company appealed against. The Company agrees with the ruling of the first-instance court, whereby 

the decision was repealed. However, it opposes to the reasons for such ruling in a number of respects. Therefore, 

on 12 July 2016, it filed a last resort appeal with the Supreme Administrative Court. The decision is pending. 

 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Other long-term financial liabilities

Financial lease liabilities 557 505

Other short-term financial liabilities

FX contracts                         -  97

Financial lease liabilities 499 331

Other financial liabilities/* 534 4 142

Total 1 033 4 570
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Tax on goods for Q2 of 2014 

In September 2014, inspection proceedings were instituted against the Company following the authorization of 

the Director of the Tax Inspection Office in Warsaw to examine the validity of the tax bases declared by 

the Company as well as correctness of calculation and payment of value added tax for the Q2 of 2014. 

The proceedings have not been closed by the date of these statements. 

Several years ago, the Company implemented strict quality and vendor control procedures aimed to minimize 

the risk of irregularities in its accounting. These procedures are regularly reviewed and developed based on 

information from the tax authorities. As the procedures are followed with due care, the Management Board finds 

that payments of public law liabilities are fulfilled as appropriate. Therefore, the probability of an unfavourable 

outcome of the inspections conducted is considered to be low, and it is not necessary to estimate any associated 

provision. 

 

Tax proceedings within Group members 

Currently, there are no pending tax proceedings of significant nature in the subsidiaries. 

29.3. Litigation 

Apart from the claims described in Note 30, no other litigation has been initiated against the Group that could have 

a material effect on its financial or economic position. 

 

29.4. Electrical and electronic waste 

On 21 October 2005, the major part of the provisions of the Act on electrical and electronic waste entered into 

force. Under the act, first marketers (manufacturers and importers) are obliged e.g. to organize and finance the 

collection of waste equipment as well as the processing, recovery, including recycling, and disposal of used 

equipment. Since 1 January 2008, first marketers of household appliances have been obliged to ensure collection 

of waste equipment. The Group has transferred respective statutory obligations, by way of relevant contracts, onto 

specialized organizations recycling electrical and electronic waste. 

30. Information on related parties 

The table below presents total amounts of related-party transactions made in the current and in the previous 

financial year:  

 

 

Related party
Sales to 

related parties

Purchases 

from related 

parties

Receivabl

es from 

related 

parties

Liabilities 

to related 

parties

MCI Management S.A. Group companies

MCI Capital S.A. 2017                          8                         -                  -                     -  

Morele Net Sp. z o.o. 2017               114 001                   3 932        20 962                 196 

MCI Capital S.A. 2016                         -                          -                  -                     -  

Morele Net Sp. z o.o. 2016 88 179                   8 135 15 039                 353 

Related party
Sales to 

related parties

Purchases 

from related 

parties

Receivabl

es from 

related 

parties

Liabilities 

to related 

parties

Management Board of the Company

Andrzej Kuźniak 2017 12                         -                  -                     -  

Julisz Niemotko 2017                          2                         -                  -                     -  

Julisz Niemotko 2016                          2                         -                  -                     -  
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30.1. Ultimate parent 

MCI Capital S.A. is the ultimate parent, and it controls the Group through its subsidiary: MCI Venture Projects 

Spółka z ograniczoną odpowiedzialnością VI S.K.A. 

30.2. Terms of related-party transactions 

 

Transactions with related parties are made on arm’s length terms. 

30.3. Loan to a member of the Management Board  

In the financial year closed on 31 December 2017 and in the previous year, the Company did not grant any loans 

to its Management Board members. 

30.4. Other transactions with members of the Management Board 

 

Occasionally, Management Board members purchase goods offered by the Group at the same prices as those paid 

by other clients. 

30.5. Remuneration of the senior management of the Group 

30.5.1. Remuneration paid or due to the Management and Supervisory Board members 

 

 

 

30.5.2. Senior management (including Management and Supervisory Board members) 

participation in the employee stock ownership plan 

Members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board are participants in the incentive schemes for 2015 

and 2016 (Note 21.1). 

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Management Board of the Parent Company

Short-term employee benefits 3 800 3 634

Supervisory Board of the Parent Company

Short-term employee benefits 352 367

4 152 4 001

Management Boards of subsidiaries

Short-term employee benefits 5 601 4 515

Total 9 753 8 516
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31. Fees of the statutory auditor or the entity authorized to audit financial 

statements 

 

 

In 2017 and 2016, the aforesaid services were provided by Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczoną 

odpowiedzialnością Sp.k.  

 

32. Financial risk management objectives and policy 

The key financial instruments used by the Group include bank loans, finance leases, cash and short-term deposits. 

The major objective of the said financial instruments is to secure financing for the Group’s operations. The Group 

also holds other financial instruments, such as trade receivables and liabilities, which result directly from its 

operations. 

The Group enters into FX transactions (mainly spot and forward), with a view to managing the currency risk 

related to its operations and inherent in the sources of funding it relies on. The Group is not trading and did not 

trade in financial instruments during the reporting period. 

Main risks resulting from the financial instruments held by the Group include the interest rate risk, the liquidity 

risk, the currency risk, the credit risk and the commodity price risk. The Management Board verifies and sets out 

the rules applicable to each risk type management. The rules have been presented briefly below.  

32.1. Interest rate risk 

The Group uses mainly overdraft facilities in PLN, RON, CZK, EUR and HUF, and non-recourse factoring 

facilities in PLN and CZK. All these facilities bear interest based on floating rates, namely WIBOR, ROBOR, 

PRIBOR, EURIBOR, BUBOR and LIBOR. 

At present, the Group does not pursue an active interest rate risk hedging strategy.  

Interest rate risk – sensitivity analysis 

The table below presents sensitivity of the net financial result to reasonably possible changes in interest rates with 

all other factors held constant (in relation to floating-rate liabilities). The effect on equity and on total 

comprehensive income of the Group has not been presented. 

 

 
 

 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Statutory audit of the annual financial statements 334                    210                   

Other services include  services regarding subsidiares 61                      57                     

Total 395                   267                  

Increase/decrease 

(percentage points)

Impact on net 

profit/loss

Year ended 31 December 2017

+0.5% (2 005)                

-0.5% 2 005                 

Year ended 31 December 2016

+0.5% (1 501)                

-0.5% 1 501                 

Financial instruments with floating interest rate

Financial instruments with floating interest rate
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32.2. Currency risk 

 

The Group is exposed to the currency risk inherent in the transactions it enters into. The risk arises from purchases 

and sales made by the operating entity as well as loans taken out in currencies other than the valuation currency.  

The subsidiaries make purchases almost exclusively in the currency of their sales transactions. Additionally, they 

do not have any inventories (except ABC Data Distributie SRL and ABC Data Hungary), and the major part of 

purchases are made by the Parent. Consequently, the Group’s currency risk related to changes in foreign exchange 

rates is concentrated at the Parent. In 2017, the Parent’s purchases in foreign currencies accounted for ca. 69% of 

all purchases, whereas 38% of sale transactions were denominated in currencies other than the Polish zloty. The 

Parent monitors the currency positions for each currency and enters into currency risk hedging transactions in the 

form of financial instruments so that they correspond to the terms of the hedged item and ensure the maximum 

effectiveness of the hedge.  

Since 1 April 2010, the Company has been applying hedge accounting involving cash flow hedges. As a result, it 

has minimized the currency risk relating to goods and services purchased in foreign currencies and registered by 

the Company in the domestic currency at a historical rate where the sales prices of the said goods and services in 

the domestic currency are indexed to the spot exchange rate. In this case, receivables and liabilities in a given 

foreign currency and derivatives constitute elements of the hedge. 

The table below presents sensitivity of the net financial result (related to changes in the fair value of monetary 

assets and liabilities, and FX forwards) and total comprehensive income of the Company (additionally taking into 

account changes arising from the application of hedge accounting) to reasonably possible changes in foreign 

exchange rates with all other factors held constant.   
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31.12.2017

Forex rate 

increase/decre

ase

Impact on 

gross 

profit/loss

Impact on total 

comprehensive 

income

USD 5% (3 420)                (4 862)                

-5% 3 420                 (4 862)                

EUR 5% (1 600)                (4 008)                

-5% 1 600                 4 008                 

CZK 5% 429                    429                    

-5% (429)                   (429)                   

RON 5% 299                    299                    

-5% (321)                   (299)                   

HUF 5% 1                        1                        

-5% (1)                       (1)                       

GBP 5% 11                      11                      

-5% (11)                     (11)                     

31.12.2016

USD 5% (573)                   (3 138)                

-5% 573                    3 138                 

EUR 5% (3 052)                (7 211)                

-5% 3 052                 7 211                 

CZK 5% 22                      (22)                     

-5% (22)                     22                      

RON 5% (126)                   (126)                   

-5% 126                    126                    

HUF 5% (139)                   (139)                   

-5% 138                    138                    

GBP 5% (191)                   (191)                   

-5% 191                    191                    
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32.3. Commodity price risk 

Continuous reductions of product prices arising from their progressing technical obsolescence and the launch of 

new products are a characteristic of the IT market. Price protection clauses in most distribution contracts concluded 

by the Group protect it against that risk. They enable the Group to obtain a refund of a part of the purchase price 

of goods which have not been sold if their prices set for the clients drop. The Group attempts to reduce the 

commodity price risk by maintaining a high inventory turnover ratio. 

 

32.4. Credit risk 

The credit risk is a risk that the Group may incur a financial loss if a contracting party or other party to a transaction 

defaults on its contractual obligations.  

The credit risk is related mainly to trade receivables and the use of deferred payment terms in sales transactions. 

The Group has developed and implemented procedures aimed at minimizing the risk and its continuous monitoring 

so as to avoid a significant credit risk concentration. 

A key credit risk mitigation tool is insurance, which covers over 90% of Group’s receivables. 

Clients with a poor financial standing and those beginning their cooperation with the Group can buy for cash or 

upon advance payment only. Each client applying for a trade credit is assessed for creditworthiness based on 

submitted financial documents or market intelligence reports.  

The Group insures its trade receivables; therefore, the credit limit determined individually based on an analysis of 

a client’s financial standing depends heavily on a decision regarding the amount of the client’s trade credit that is 

insured. A credit in excess of the limit defined by the insurer requires approval in accordance with the internal 

credit procedures. Credit decisions are approved only by the unit in charge of the Group’s credit risk management 

or by the Management Board. The Group periodically reviews the credit limits of its clients based on their current 

insurance, payment history, scale of cooperation, financial data and collateral. 

If a client has overdue liabilities to the Group, sales to that client are suspended or limited until the debt is repaid. 

At the same time, depending on the debt repayment process, the credit limit granted may be reduced or cancelled. 

The Group companies recognize impairment losses on non-insured receivables and amounts arising from their 

deductible relative to the insured receivables, based on a detailed analysis of amounts due. 

The credit risk related to other financial assets of the Group, such as cash and cash equivalents and some 

derivatives, results from the inability to make a payment by the other party to the contract, and the maximum 

exposure to such risk is equal to the carrying amount of the instruments. 

32.5. Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk is defined as a risk that the Group will be unable to pay its financial liabilities at maturity. 

The Group monitors projected cash flows from operating activities on an ongoing basis, considering the maturity 

of its receivables and liabilities. Liquidity is maintained with the use of short-term bank loans and factoring 

facilities obtained by the Group. The related demand is determined when preparing the budget for the subsequent 

year and modified depending on the current financial standing of the Group. As the Group manages its working 

capital and counterparty credit risk efficiently (insurance of receivables), in addition to maintaining a good 

financial standing, the liquidity risk is limited. 
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Financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 by maturity, based on contractual 

undiscounted payments: 

 

 

33. Financial instruments 

33.1. Fair values of financial instruments by class 

The fair value of financial instruments held by the Group as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 did not 

differ considerably from the amounts presented in the financial statements for each year, because the effect of 

discounting on short-term instruments is immaterial and long-term instruments were linked to transactions made 

on arm’s length terms.   

 

 

 

31 December 2017

Carrying 

amount

Contractual cash 

flows

Below 3 

month

From 3 to 12 

months

From 1 year 

to 5 years

Above 5 

years

Interest-bearing credit facilities and loans          135 868                     141 075                3 815              94 373              2 376        40 511 

Other financial liabilities                 534                            534                   534                      -                      -                  -  

Financial lease liabilities              1 056                         1 115                     47                   477                 591                 -  

Currency forwards                     -                                -                        -                       -                      -                  -  

Trade and other liabilities (without VAT 

liabilities, duties and other provisions)          750 713                     750 713            748 410                2 154                 149                 -  

       888 171                   893 437          752 806            97 004             3 116       40 511 

31 December 2016

Carrying 

amount

Contractual cash 

flows

Below 3 

month

From 3 to 12 

months

From 1 year 

to 5 years

Above 5 

years

Interest-bearing credit facilities and loans          148 949                     167 398                   702              34 080          132 616                 -  

Other financial liabilities              4 142                         4 142                   783                3 359                     -                  -  

Financial lease liabilities                 836                            843                   108                   228                 507                 -  

Currency forwards                   97                              97                     97                      -                      -                  -  

Trade and other liabilities (without VAT 

liabilities, duties and other provisions)          765 916                     765 916            765 916                      -                      -                  -  

       919 940                   938 396          767 606            37 667        133 123                 -  

Category in 

line with

IAS 39 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables (without VAT and prepayments) L&R 680 882             610 080             

Currency forwards FVTPL 786                    -                       

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 43 012               90 951               

Category in 

line with

IAS 39 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Financial liabilities

Currency forwards FVTPL -                       97                      

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, including:

overdraft facility OFLMAC 11 865               148 949             

Other liabilities, including:

Trade and other liabilities (without VAT and prepayments) OFLMAC 750 713             765 916             

Carrying amount

Carrying amount
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Financial instruments measured at fair value, held by the Group as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016: 

 

 

 

The fair value of FX forwards is based on discounted future cash flows resulting from transactions, calculated by 

reference to the difference between the forward price and the transaction price. The forward price is calculated by 

reference to the fixing rate of the National Bank of Poland and the implied yield curve from FX swap transactions. 

 

In the financial years closed on 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, there were no reclassifications between 

level 1 and level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, and no instrument was transferred from/to level 3 of the hierarchy. 

 

31.12.2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

FX contracts -                       786            -              

31.12.2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

FX contracts -                       97              -              
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33.2. Revenue, expenses, profits and losses recognized in the profit and loss account by category of financial instruments 

 

 

31.12.2017
Category in line 

with  IAS 39

Interest 

revenue/(expense)

Exchange 

gains/(losses)/*

Released/            

(recognized) 

impairment losses

Other Total

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables L&R (2 090)                       (797)                          (6 725)                       (541)                          (10 153)                     

Currency forwards FVTPL -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 115                           (284)                          -                              -                              (169)                          

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing credit facilities and 

loans, including:

overdraft facility OFLMAC (3 212)                       -                              -                              (242)                          (3 454)                       

Currency forwards FVTPL -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              

Other (non-current) liabilities, including

Finance lease liabilities OFLMAC (27)                            (2)                              -                              -                              (29)                            

Trade and other liabilities OFLMAC (1 426)                       2 107                        -                              (335)                          346                           
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/* In line with the accounting principles applicable to cash flows, as used by the Group, exchange differences on all monetary assets regarded as effective hedges are recognized on an 

aggregate basis in other comprehensive income and then reclassified as an adjustment to sales revenue when the hedged sales are made. Profits and losses presented in the Note concern the 

subsidiaries only. 

 

31.12.2016
Category in line 

with  IAS 39

Interest 

revenue/(expense)

Exchange 

gains/(losses)/*

Released/            

(recognized) 

impairment losses

Other Total

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables L&R (1 856)                       732                           1 477                        (86)                            267                           

Currency forwards FVTPL -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 136                           (193)                          -                              -                              (57)                            

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing credit facilities and 

loans, including:

overdraft facility OFLMAC (3 350)                       -                              -                              (250)                          (3 600)                       

Currency forwards FVTPL -                              (883)                          -                              -                              (883)                          

Other (non-current) liabilities, including

Finance lease liabilities OFLMAC (9)                              168                           -                              -                              159                           

Trade and other liabilities OFLMAC (1 820)                       (358)                          -                              (46)                            (2 224)                       
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33.3. Hedges 

The Group hedges the foreign currency risk associated with sales indexed to EUR and USD exchange rates and 

denominated in these currencies using foreign currency monetary items, i.e. trade liabilities decreased by trade 

receivables and cash, and increased/decreased by the notional value of FX forwards and FX swaps regarding 

currency sales/purchases. The Group identifies designated foreign currency monetary items as hedging instruments 

under the cash flow hedge model and recognizes them in accordance with the hedge accounting principles.  

The tables below present the key parameters of foreign currency monetary items allocated for hedging instruments, 

including periods where cash flows will occur arising from the cash flow hedges and where they will affect 

the financial result, as well as their fair value in PLN thousand as at 31 December 2017.  

33.3.1. Cash flow hedges 

Hedging instruments – EUR 

 

 

Hedging instruments – USD 

 

 

 

* For items other than FX forward transactions, the carrying amount has been presented. According to the 

Company, the carrying amount of these items does not differ considerably from their fair value. 

** Negative values represent forward transactions to sell foreign currencies. Positive values represent forward 

transactions to purchase foreign currencies. 

  

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Trade liabilities        (146 269)        (245 430)        (146 269)        (245 430)
January/February 

2017

January/February 

2016

Trade receivables            85 889          119 298            85 889          119 298 
January/February 

2017

January/February 

2016

Cash          (33 961)          (29 948)          (33 961)          (29 948)
January/February 

2017

January/February 

2016

FX Forward EUR                     -                      -                      -                      -                               -                               -  

Total monetary items:          (94 341)        (156 080)          (94 341)        (156 080)

Fair value* Expected maturity of hedged position
Instrument type

Nominal amount

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Trade liabilities        (146 269)        (245 430)        (146 269)        (245 430)
January/February 

2017

January/February 

2016

Trade receivables            85 889          119 298            85 889          119 298 
January/February 

2017

January/February 

2016

Cash          (33 961)          (29 948)          (33 961)          (29 948)
January/February 

2017

January/February 

2016

FX Forward EUR                     -                      -                      -                      -                               -                               -  

Total monetary items:          (94 341)        (156 080)          (94 341)        (156 080)

Instrument type
Nominal amount Fair value* Expected maturity of hedged position
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Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges recognized in equity are presented below: 

 

34. Capital management 

The key objective of the Management Board is to maintain a capital structure that would enable the Group’s 

growth, guarantee return on investment for the shareholders, and ensure that the lenders’ opinion on the Company 

is positive.  

The capital structure is monitored on the basis of the net debt to EBITDA ratio. 

Net debt includes liabilities arising from loans and debt instruments as well as finance lease liabilities, less cash 

and cash equivalents. EBITDA is defined as the net financial result determined in accordance with IFRS-EU, plus 

depreciation and amortization, impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, net 

financial expenses and income tax. 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 the ratio was as follows: 

 

35. Headcount structure 

Average headcount in the Group in the financial years closed on 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016: 

 

  

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Opening balance                 (1 467)                     (71)

Effective portion of profit/loss on the hedging instrument                 23 571              (16 759)

Amounts charged to profit or loss, including:                 19 867              (15 363)

- Adjustment of sales revenue                 19 867              (15 363)

- Adjustment arising from hedge ineffectiveness                         -                          -  

Closing balance                   2 237                (1 467)

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Net debt

EBITDA 90 728 58 834

Net debt ratio 58 669 40 418

1.5 1.5

Year ended   

31.12.2017

Year ended   

31.12.2016

Management Board of the parent 2 4

Management Board of entities within the Group 11 13

Administration 154 154

Sales 289 279

Logistics 133 171

Total 589 621
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36. Events after the balance sheet date 

 

No events that would have a material effect on this statement without being reflected herein occurred after the 

balance sheet date. 

 

 

 

Ilona Weiss Andrzej Kuźniak Arkadiusz Lew-Kiedrowski Krystyna Cybulska 
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